

## A unified approach to solving some inverse problems for evolution equations by using observability inequalities

Kaïs Ammari, Mourad Choulli, Faouzi Triki

#### ▶ To cite this version:

Kaïs Ammari, Mourad Choulli, Faouzi Triki. A unified approach to solving some inverse problems for evolution equations by using observability inequalities. CSIAM Transactions on Applied Mathematics, 2020, 1 (2), pp.207-239. 10.4208/csiam-am.2020-0001. hal-01628732v2

### HAL Id: hal-01628732 https://hal.science/hal-01628732v2

Submitted on 12 Dec 2019

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.

# A UNIFIED APPROACH TO SOLVING SOME INVERSE PROBLEMS FOR EVOLUTION EQUATIONS BY USING OBSERVABILITY INEQUALITIES

#### KAÏS AMMARI, MOURAD CHOULLI, AND FAOUZI TRIKI

ABSTRACT. We survey some of our recent results on inverse problems for evolution equations. The goal is to provide a unified approach to solve various types of evolution equations. The inverse problems we consider consist in determining unknown coefficients from boundary measurements by varying initial conditions. Based on observability inequalities and a special choice of initial conditions, we provide uniqueness and stability estimates for the recovery of volume and boundary lower order coefficients in wave and heat equations. Some of the results presented here are slightly improved from their original versions.

#### Contents

1.	Introduction	2
2.	Observability inequalities	2
2.1.	Wave and heat equations in a Riemannian manifold	2
2.2.	The wave equation in a rectangular domain with boundary damping	5
3.	Weighted interpolation inequalities	6
4.	Inverse source problem: abstract framework	10
5.	Inverse problems for evolution equations associated to Laplace-Beltrami	
	operator	13
5.1.	Inverse source problem for the wave equation	14
5.2.	Determining the potential and the damping coefficient in a wave	
	equation	15
5.3.	Determining the potential in a wave equation without geometric	
	control condition	18
5.4.	Inverse source problem for the heat equation	20
5.5.	Determining the zeroth order coefficient in a heat equation	22
6.	Determining a boundary coefficient in a wave equation	24
6.1.	Inverse source problem for the wave equation with boundary damping	24
6.2.	Determining the boundary damping coefficient in a wave equation	24
Ref	erences	26

 $<sup>2010\</sup> Mathematics\ Subject\ Classification.\ 35 R30.$ 

Key words and phrases. Evolution equations, Laplace-Beltrami operator, observability inequality, geometric control, initial-to-boundary operator.

The research of MC and FT was supported in part by grant LabEx PERSYVAL-Lab (ANR-11-LABX- 0025-01) and grant ANR-17-CE40-0029 of the French National Research Agency ANR (project MultiOnde).

#### 1. Introduction

Inverse coefficient problems for evolution equations have been a very active area in mathematical and numerical research over the last decades, driven by numerous applications. They are intrinsically difficult to solve: this fact is due in part to their very mathematical structure and to the fact that generally only partial data is available [17]. We survey in this paper some of our recent results on inverse problems for evolution equations concerning heat and wave equations. In [2] the authors proposed a general method to deal with inverse source problems for evolution equations. Starting from the ideas in [2], we developed an approach based on observability inequalities and a spectral decomposition to solve some inverse coefficients problems in evolution equations [3, 4, 5]. However the approach is older than that. Inverse coefficient problems in heat and wave equations using control techniques have been studied by a large community of people (see for instance [29, 21, 15, 16, 25, 24, 8, 6] and the references therein). It would be impossible to present here all the relevant results that have been proved in this research direction. We will be mainly focusing on the results that are closely connected to the considered inverse coefficient problems in heat and wave equations.

The measurements are made on a sub-boundary by varying initial conditions. The key idea in our analysis consists in reducing the inverse coefficients problems to inverse source problems. This is achieved by using a spectral decomposition and unique continuation property of eigenfunctions.

For simplicity convenience we limited ourselves to initial boundary value problems for wave and heat equations. But our analysis can be extended to other types of evolution equations such as dynamical Schrödinger equation.

The main ingredient in our approach is observability inequalities. We point out that the wave and the heat equations have different observability properties. We know that, under some appropriate conditions, the wave equation is exactly observable, while the heat equation is only final time observable [28, 30]. We refer to Section 2 for details. In Section 3, we establish weighted interpolation inequalities involving the eigenfunctions of Laplace-Beltrami operator that are useful in the analysis of the stability issue of the studied inverse coefficient problems. These inequalities have been obtained by quantifying the unique continuation property for the Laplace-Beltrami operator through weighted energy estimates with the aid of Carleman type inequalities. We present an abstract framework for the inverse source problem in Section 4. Based on the introduced observability inequalities we provide uniqueness and stability inequalities of the recovery of volume and boundary lower order coefficients in wave and heat equations from boundary measurements in respectively Sections 5 and 6.

#### 2. Observability inequalities

We collect in this section various observability inequalities that are necessary to the analysis of the inverse problems we want to tackle in this text. Since most of these results are well recorded in the literature we limited ourselves to give their precise statement and provide the references where the proofs can be found.

2.1. Wave and heat equations in a Riemannian manifold. Let  $n \ge 2$  be an integer and consider M = (M,g) a compact n-dimensional Riemannian manifold with boundary. By a manifold with boundary we mean a  $C^{\infty}$  manifold and its

boundary is  $C^{\infty}$  manifold of dimension n-1. Throughout, we adopt the Einstein convention summation for repeated indices. If in any term the same index name appears twice, as both an upper and a lower index, that term is assumed to be summed from 1 to n.

In local coordinates system  $x = (x^1, \dots, x^n),$ 

$$g = g_{ij}dx^i \otimes dx^j$$
.

Let  $(\partial_1, \dots, \partial_n)$  be the dual basis of  $(x^1, \dots, x^n)$ . For two vector fields  $X = X^i \partial_i$  and  $Y = Y^j \partial_i$  over M, set

$$\langle X, Y \rangle = g_{ij} X^i Y^j$$

and  $|X| = \sqrt{\langle X, X \rangle}$ .

Recall that the gradient of  $u \in C^{\infty}(M)$  is the vector field given by

$$\nabla u = g^{ij} \partial_i u \partial_j$$

and the Laplace-Beltrami operator is the operator acting as follows

$$\Delta u = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\det g}} \partial_i \left( \sqrt{\det g} \, g^{ij} \partial_j u \right),\,$$

where  $(g^{ij})$  denote the inverse of the metric  $(g_{ij})$ .

We are first concerned with observability inequalities for the wave equation. Consider then the following initial-boundary value problem, abbreviated to IBVP's in the sequel, for the wave equation:

(2.1) 
$$\begin{cases} \partial_t^2 u - \Delta u + q(x)u + a(x)\partial_t u = 0 & \text{in } M \times (0, \tau), \\ u = 0 & \text{on } \partial M \times (0, \tau), \\ u(\cdot, 0) = u_0, \ \partial_t u(\cdot, 0) = u_1. \end{cases}$$

The usual energy space for the wave equation is given by

$$\mathcal{H} = H_0^1(M) \oplus L^2(M).$$

According to [10, sections 5 and 6, Chapter XVIII] or [7, Chapter 2]), for any  $q, a \in L^{\infty}(M), \tau > 0$  and  $(u_0, u_1) \in \mathcal{H}_0$ , the IBVP (2.1) has a unique solution

$$u = u(q, a, (u_0, u_1)) \in C([0, \tau], H_0^1(M))$$

so that  $\partial_t u \in C([0,\tau], L^2(M))$ . If in addition

$$||q||_{\infty} + ||a||_{\infty} \leq \aleph,$$

for some constant  $\aleph > 0$ , then by the energy estimate

$$(2.2) ||u||_{C([0,\tau],H_0^1(M))} + ||\partial_t u||_{C([0,\tau],L^2(M))} \le C||(u_0,u_1)||_{\mathcal{H}_0},$$

holds with  $C = C(\aleph) > 0$  is a nondecreasing function.

Denote by  $\nu$  the unit normal vector field pointing inward M and set  $\partial_{\nu}u = \langle \nabla u, \nu \rangle$ . From [7, Lemma 2.4.1]  $\partial_{\nu}u \in L^2(\partial M \times (0, \tau))$  and

where  $c_M$  is a constant depending only on M.

In light of (2.2), (2.3) yields

(2.4) 
$$\|\partial_{\nu} u\|_{L^{2}(\partial M \times (0,\tau))} \leq C\|(u_{0}, u_{1})\|_{\mathcal{H}},$$

with a constant C of the same form as in (2.2).

Let  $\Gamma$  be a non empty open subset of  $\partial M$  and  $\tau > 0$  so that  $(\Gamma, \tau)$  geometrically control M. This means that every generalized geodesic traveling at speed one in

M meets  $\Gamma$  in a non-diffractive point at a time  $t \in (0, \tau)$  (we refer to [19] for more details).

Fix  $(q_0, a_0) \in L^{\infty}(M) \times L^{\infty}(M)$ . In light of [19, theorem page 169] (which remains valid for the wave operator plus an operator involving space derivatives of first order) and bearing in mind that controllability is equivalent to observability we can state the following inequality

$$(2.5) 2\kappa_0 \|(u_0, u_1)\|_{\mathcal{H}} \leq \|\partial_{\nu} u^0\|_{L^2(\Gamma \times (0, \tau))},$$

for some constant  $\kappa_0 > 0$ , where we set  $u^0 = u(a_0, q_0, (u_0, u_1))$  for  $(u_0, u_1) \in \mathcal{H}$ .

By a perturbation argument, there exists  $\beta > 0$ , depending on  $(q_0, a_0)$  and  $\kappa_0$ , so that, for any  $(q, a) = (q_0, a_0) + (\tilde{q}, \tilde{a})$ , with  $(\tilde{q}, \tilde{a}) \in L^{\infty}(M) \times L^{\infty}(M)$  satisfying  $\|(\tilde{q}, \tilde{a})\|_{L^{\infty}(M) \times L^{\infty}(M)} \leq \beta$ , we have

$$\kappa_0 \| (u_0, u_1) \|_{\mathcal{H}} \leq \| \partial_{\nu} u \|_{L^2(\Gamma \times (0, \tau))}.$$

Here  $\kappa_0 > 0$  is the same as in previous inequality and  $u = u(a, q, (u_0, u_1))$ .

**Theorem 2.1.** Let  $(q_0, a_0) \in L^{\infty}(M) \times L^{\infty}(M)$  and assume that  $(\Gamma, \tau)$  geometrically control M. There exist  $\kappa > 0$  and  $\beta > 0$ , only depending on  $\Gamma, M$  and  $(q_0, a_0)$ , such that for any  $(q, a) = (q_0, a_0) + (\tilde{q}, \tilde{a})$  with  $(\tilde{q}, \tilde{a})$  satisfying

$$\|(\tilde{q}, \tilde{a})\|_{L^{\infty}(M) \times L^{\infty}(M)} \le \beta$$

we have

(2.6) 
$$\kappa \|(u_0, u_1)\|_{\mathcal{H}_0} \leq \|\partial_{\nu} u\|_{L^2(\Gamma \times (0, \tau))},$$

where  $u = u(q, a, (u_0, u_1)).$ 

Next, we examine the case where we do not assume that  $(\Gamma, \tau)$  geometrically control M. Define

$$\mathbf{d}(\Gamma) = \sup\{d(x,\Gamma); \ x \in M\},\$$

let

$$v = v(q, (u_0, v_0)) = u(q, 0, (u_0, u_1))$$

and set

$$\mathcal{H}_{-1} = L^2(M) \oplus H^{-1}(M).$$

In light of [18, Corollary 3.2] we have

**Theorem 2.2.** Let  $\aleph > 0$ . Under the assumption  $\tau > 2\mathbf{d}(\Gamma)$  there exist positive constants C,  $\kappa$  and  $\epsilon_0$  so that for any  $q \in L^{\infty}(M)$  with  $\|q\|_{L^{\infty}(M)} \leq \aleph$  we have

(2.7) 
$$C\|(u_0, u_1)\|_{\mathcal{H}_{-1}} \leq e^{\kappa \epsilon} \|\partial_{\nu} v\|_{L^2(\Gamma \times (0, \tau))} + \frac{1}{\epsilon} \|(u_0, u_1)\|_{\mathcal{H}}, \quad (u_0, u_1) \in \mathcal{H}, \ \epsilon \geqslant \epsilon_0.$$
  
Here  $v = v(q, (u_0, v_0)).$ 

We now give an observability inequality for a parabolic equation. Consider then the IBVP

(2.8) 
$$\begin{cases} \partial_t u - \Delta u + q(x)u = 0 & \text{in } M \times (0, \tau), \\ u = 0 & \text{on } \partial M \times (0, \tau), \\ u(\cdot, 0) = u_0. \end{cases}$$

For  $q \in L^{\infty}(M)$  let  $A_q = \Delta - q$  with domain  $D(A_q) = H_0^1(M) \cap H^2(M)$ . As  $A_0$  (that is  $A_q$  with q = 0) is an m-dissipative operator we deduce form the well

established theory of continuous semigroups that  $A_q$  generates a strongly continuous semigroup  $e^{tA_q}$ . Therefore, for any  $u_0 \in L^2(M)$ , the IBVP has a unique solution

$$u = u(q, u_0) = e^{tA_q} u_0 \in C([0, \tau], L^2(M)) \cap C^1([0, \tau], H^2(M) \cap H_0^1(M)).$$

The perturbation argument we used previously for the wave equation is in fact stated in general abstract setting [28, Proposition 6.3.3, page 189], which is also applicable for the heat equation. This together with [20, Corollary 4] yield the following final time observability inequality.

**Theorem 2.3.** Let  $\tau > 0$ ,  $\Gamma$  a non empty open subset of  $\partial M$  and  $\aleph > 0$ . There exists a constant C > 0 so that for any  $q \in L^{\infty}(M)$  satisfying  $\|q\|_{L^{2}(M)} \leq \aleph$  we have

(2.9) 
$$||u(\cdot,\tau)||_{L^{2}(M)} \leq C ||\partial_{\nu}u||_{L^{2}(\Gamma\times(0,\tau))},$$

where  $u = u(q, u_0)$  with  $u_0 \in L^2(M)$ .

2.2. The wave equation in a rectangular domain with boundary damping. Consider on  $\Omega = (0,1) \times (0,1)$  the IBVP

(2.10) 
$$\begin{cases} \partial_t^2 u - \Delta u = 0 & \text{in } \Omega \times (0, \tau), \\ u = 0 & \text{on } \Gamma_0 \times (0, \tau), \\ \partial_{\nu} u + a \partial_t u = 0 & \text{on } \Gamma_1 \times (0, \tau), \\ u(\cdot, 0) = u_0, \ \partial_t u(\cdot, 0) = u_1. \end{cases}$$

Here

$$\Gamma_0 = ((0,1) \times \{1\}) \cup (\{1\} \times (0,1)),$$
  
$$\Gamma_1 = ((0,1) \times \{0\}) \cup (\{0\} \times (0,1))$$

and  $\partial_{\nu} = \nu \cdot \nabla$  is the derivative along  $\nu$ , the unit normal vector pointing outward of  $\Omega$ . Note that  $\nu$  is everywhere defined except at the vertices of  $\Omega$ .

We identify in the sequel  $a|_{(0,1)\times\{0\}}$  by  $a_1=a_1(x), x\in(0,1)$  and  $a|_{\{0\}\times(0,1)}$  by  $a_2=a_2(y), y\in(0,1)$ . In that case it is natural to identify a, defined on  $\Gamma_1$ , by the pair  $(a_1,a_2)$ .

Fix  $1/2 < \alpha \le 1$  and let

$$\mathscr{A} = \{b = (b_1, b_2) \in C^{\alpha}([0, 1]) \oplus C^{\alpha}([0, 1]), \ b_1(0) = b_2(0), \ b_i \geqslant 0\}.$$

Let  $V=\{u\in H^1(\Omega);\ u=0\ \text{on}\ \Gamma_0\}$  and define on  $V\oplus L^2(\Omega)$  the unbounded operator  $A_a,\ a\in\mathscr{A},$  by

$$A_a = (w, \Delta v), \quad D(A_a) = \{(v, w) \in V \oplus V; \ \Delta v \in L^2(\Omega) \text{ and } \partial_{\nu} v = -aw \text{ on } \Gamma_1\}.$$

From [4]  $A_a$  generates a strongly continuous semigroup  $e^{tA_a}$ . Whence, for any  $(u_0, u_1) \in D(A_a)$ , the IBVP (2.10) has a solution  $u = u(a, (u_0, u_1))$  so that

$$(u, \partial_t u) \in C([0, \tau], D(A_a)) \cap C^1([0, \tau], V \oplus L^2(\Omega)).$$

We proved in [4, Corollary 2.2] the following observability inequality

**Theorem 2.4.** Fix  $0 < \delta_0 < \delta_1$ . Then there exist  $\tau_0 > 0$  and  $\kappa > 0$ , depending only on  $\delta_0$  and  $\delta_1$ , so that for any  $\tau \geqslant \tau_0$  and  $a \in \mathscr{A}$  satisfying  $\delta_0 \leqslant a \leqslant \delta_1$  on  $\Gamma_1$  we have

$$\kappa \|(u_0, u_1)\|_{V \oplus L^2(\Omega)} \leq \|\partial_{\nu} u\|_{L^2(\Gamma_1 \times (0, \tau))},$$
  
where  $u = u(a, (u_0, u_1))$ , with  $(u_0, u_1) \in D(A_a)$ .

It is worth noticing that  $\Gamma_1$  satisfies the geometric control condition given in the multiplier method. We also point out that a special case was considered by the third author and Ren [27] in which the observation is made only on one side of  $\Gamma_1$ .

#### 3. Weighted interpolation inequalities

We aim in the present section establishing two weighted interpolation inequalities. These inequalities will be useful in the proof of Hölder stability estimates for certain inverse problems we discuss in the coming sections.

As in the preceding section M is a compact n-dimensional Riemannian manifold with boundary.

Consider the Hardy's inequality

(3.1) 
$$\int_{M} |\nabla f(x)|^{2} dV \geqslant c \int_{M} \frac{|f(x)|^{2}}{d(x, \partial M)^{2}} dV, \quad f \in H_{0}^{1}(M),$$

for some constant c > 0, where dV is the volume form on M, d is the geodesic distance introduced previously and  $d(\cdot, \partial M)$  is the distance to  $\partial M$ .

Define  $r_x(v) = \inf\{|t|; \ \gamma_{x,v}(t) \notin M\}$ , where  $\gamma_{x,v}$  is the geodesic satisfying the initial condition  $\gamma_{x,v} = x$  and  $\dot{\gamma}_{x,v} = v$ . It was observed in [26] that Hardy's inequality (3.1) holds for any open subset  $\mathcal{O}$ , of a complete Riemannian manifold, whenever  $\mathcal{O}$  has the following uniform interior cone property: there are an angle  $\alpha > 0$  and a constant  $c_0 > 0$  so that, for any  $x \in M$ , there exists an  $\alpha$ -angled cone  $C_x \subset T_x M$  [1] with the property that  $r_x(v) \leq c_0 d(x, \partial M)$ , for all  $v \in C_x$ . The proof of this result follows the method by Davies [11, page 25] for the flat case. Since in our case M is a compact Riemannian manifold, it is obvious that it satisfies the uniform interior cone property. Then slight modifications of the proof in [26] show that Hardy's inequality is satisfied for any compact Riemannian manifold.

It is worth mentioning that Hardy's inequality holds for any bounded Lipschitz domain of  $\mathbb{R}^n$  with constant  $c \leq 1/4$ , with equality if and only if  $\Omega$  is convex.

The following Hopf's maximum principle is a key ingredient in establishing our first weighted interpolation inequality.

**Lemma 3.1.** Let  $q \in C(M)$  and  $u \in C^2(M) \cap H_0^1(M)$  satisfying  $q \leq 0$  and  $\Delta u + qu \leq 0$ . If u is non identically equal to zero then u > 0 in M and  $\partial_{\nu} u(y) = \langle \nabla u(y), \nu(y) \rangle > 0$  for any  $y \in \partial M$ .

*Proof.* Similar to that of [12, Lemma 3.4, page 34 and Theorem 3.5, page 35]. The tangent ball in the classical Hopf's lemma is substitute by a tangent geodesic ball (see the construction in [23, Proof of Theorem 9.2, page 51]).  $\Box$ 

**Proposition 3.1.** Let  $q \in C(M)$  and  $u \in C^2(M) \cap H_0^1(M)$  satisfying  $q \leq 0$  and  $\Delta u + qu \leq 0$ . If u is non identically equal to zero then

$$u(x) \geqslant c_u d(x, \partial M), \quad x \in M,$$

where the constant  $c_u$  only depends on u and M.

*Proof.* Let  $0 < \epsilon$  to be specified later. Let  $x \in M$  so that  $d(x, \partial M) \le \epsilon$  and  $y \in \partial M$  satisfying  $d(x, \partial M) = d(x, y)$ . Since M is complete there exist a unit speed minimizing geodesic  $\gamma : [0, r] \to M$  such that  $\gamma(0) = y, \gamma(r) = x$  and  $\dot{\gamma}(0) = \nu(y)$ , where we set  $r = d(x, \partial M)$  (see for instance [22, page 150]).

Define  $\phi(t) = u(\gamma(t))$ . Then

$$\phi'(t) = du(\gamma(t))(\dot{\gamma}(t))$$
  
$$\phi''(t) = d^2u(\gamma(t))(\dot{\gamma}(t), \dot{\gamma}(t)) + du(\gamma(t))(\ddot{\gamma}(t)).$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Here  $C_x = \{Y \in T_x M; \ \angle \langle X, Y \rangle < \alpha \}$ , for some  $X \in T_x M$ .

Here  $\dot{\gamma}(t) = \dot{\gamma}^i(t)\partial_i \in T_{\gamma(t)}$ . Observe that by the geodesic equation

$$\ddot{\gamma}^{k}(t) = -\dot{\gamma}^{i}(t)\dot{\gamma}^{j}(t)\Gamma^{k}_{ij}(\gamma(t)),$$

where  $\Gamma_{ij}^k$  are the Christoffel symbols associated to the metric g.

We get by taking into account that  $\phi'(0) = du(y)(\nu(y)) = \langle \nabla u(y), \nu(y) \rangle = \partial_{\nu} u(y)$ 

$$\phi(r) = r\partial_{\nu}u(y) + \frac{r^2}{2}\phi''(st),$$

for some 0 < s < 1. Hence there exists c > 0 depending on u and M so that

$$\phi(r) \ge 2r\eta - cr^2 \ge r\eta + r(\eta - c\epsilon),$$

with  $2\eta = \min_{y \in \Gamma} \partial_{\nu} u(y) > 0$  (by the compactness of  $\partial M$  and Lemma 3.1). Thus

$$\phi(r) \geqslant r\eta$$

provided that  $\epsilon \leq \eta/c$ . In other words we proved

(3.2) 
$$u(x) = \phi(r) \geqslant r\eta = \eta d(x, \partial M).$$

On the other hand an elementary compactness argument yields, where  $M^{\epsilon} = \{x \in M; \ d(x, \partial M) \ge \epsilon\},\$ 

$$(3.3) u(x) \geqslant \min_{z \in M^{\epsilon}} u(z) \geqslant \frac{\min_{z \in M^{\epsilon}} u(z)}{\max_{z \in M^{\epsilon}} d(z, \partial M)} d(x, \partial M), \quad x \in M^{\epsilon}.$$

In light of (3.2) and (3.3) we end up getting

$$u(x) \geqslant c_u d(x, \partial M), \quad x \in M.$$

The proof is then complete.

A consequence of Proposition 3.1 is the following corollary.

**Corollary 3.1.** Let  $q \in C(M)$ ,  $q \leq 0$ , and  $u \in C^2(M) \cap H_0^1(M)$  non identically equal to zero satisfying  $\Delta u + qu \leq 0$ . There exists a constant  $C_u$  only depending on u and M so that we have

$$||f||_{L^2(M)} \leqslant C_u ||fu||_{L^2(M)}^{\frac{1}{2}} ||f||_{H^2(M)}^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

for any  $f \in H^2(M)$ .

*Proof.* By Proposition 3.1  $u(x) \ge c_u d(x, \partial M)$ . Therefore

$$\int_M f(x)^2 dV(x) \leqslant c_u^{-1} \int_M \frac{f(x)^2 u(x)^2}{d(x,\partial M)^2} dV(x).$$

Combined with Hardy's inequality (3.1) this estimate gives

(3.4) 
$$\int_{M} f(x)^{2} dV(x) \leq c_{u}^{-1} c \int_{M} |\nabla(fu)(x)|^{2} dV(x).$$

But from usual interpolation inequalities we have

$$||fu||_{H^1(M)} \le C||fu||_{L^2(M)}^{\frac{1}{2}} ||fu||_{H^2(M)}^{\frac{1}{2}},$$

where the constant C only depends on M.

Whence (3.4) implies

$$||f||_{L^2(M)} \le C_u ||fu||_{L^2(M)}^{\frac{1}{2}} ||f||_{H^2(M)}^{\frac{1}{2}},$$

which is the expected inequality

Let  $0 \le q \in C^1(M)$  be fixed and consider the operator  $A = -\Delta + q$  with domain  $D(A) = H^2(M) \cap H^1_0(M)$ . An extension of [12, Theorem 8.38, page 214] to a compact Riemannian manifold with boundary shows that the first eigenvalue of A, denoted by  $\lambda_1$ , is simple and has a positive eigenfunction. Let then  $\phi_1 \in C^2(M)$  (by elliptic regularity) be the unique first eigenfunction satisfying  $\phi_1 > 0$  and normalized by  $\|\phi_1\|_{L^2(M)} = 1$ . Since  $\Delta\phi_1 - q\phi_1 = -\lambda_1\phi_1$  the Hopf's maximum principle is applicable to  $\phi_1$ . Therefore a particular weight in the preceding corollary is obtained by taking  $u = \phi_1$ .

**Corollary 3.2.** There exists a constant c > 0, depending on  $\phi_1$ , so that we have

(3.5) 
$$||f||_{L^{2}(M)} \le c ||f\phi_{1}||_{L^{2}(M)}^{\frac{1}{2}} ||f||_{H^{2}(M)}^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

for any  $f \in H^2(M)$ .

The second weighted interpolation inequality relies on the following proposition.

**Proposition 3.2.** Let  $p \in L^{\infty}(M)$  and  $u \in W^{2,n}(M)$  satisfying  $(\Delta + p)\varphi = 0$  in M and  $\varphi^2 \in W^{2,n}(M)$ . Then there exists  $\delta = \delta(\varphi) > 0$  so that  $|\varphi|^{-\delta} \in L^1(M)$ .

It is worth mentioning that in general  $\delta < 1$  as soon as  $\varphi$  vanishes at some point  $x_0 \in M$ . Consider for instance in the flat case  $\psi(x) \sim |x - x_0|^k$  near  $x_0$  if  $x_0$  is a zero of order k. It is then clear that  $|\varphi|^{-\delta}$  is locally integrable in a neighborhood of  $x_0$  if and only if  $\delta k < n-1$ . In consequence  $\delta < 1$  whenever  $k \ge n-1$ .

Sketch of the proof. First step. Denote by B the unit ball of  $\mathbb{R}^n$  and let  $B_+ = B \cap \mathbb{R}^n_+$ , with  $\mathbb{R}^n_+ = \{x = (x', x_n) \in \mathbb{R}^n; x_n > 0\}$ . Let L be a second order differential operator acting as follows

$$Lu = \partial_i(a_{ij}\partial_i u) + V \cdot \nabla u + du.$$

Assume that  $(a_{ij})$  is a symmetric matrix with entries in  $C^1(2\overline{B_+})$ ,  $V \in L^{\infty}(2B_+)^n$  is real valued and  $d \in L^{\infty}(2B_+)$  is complex valued. Suppose furthermore that

$$a_{ij}(x)\xi_j \cdot \xi_j \geqslant \kappa_0 |\xi|^2, \quad x \in 2B_+, \ \xi \in \mathbb{R}^n,$$

for some  $\kappa_0 > 0$ .

Let  $u \in W^{2,n}(2B_+) \cap C^0(2\overline{B_+})$  be a weak solution of Lu = 0 satisfying u = 0 on  $\partial(2B_+) \cap \overline{\mathbb{R}^n_+}$  and  $|u|^2 \in W^{2,n}(2B_+) \cap C^0(2\overline{B_+})$ . From [1, Theorem 1.1, page 942] there exists a constant C, depending of u, so that the following doubling inequality at the boundary

$$\int_{B_{2r} \cap B_{+}} |u|^{2} dx \le C \int_{B_{r} \cap B_{+}} |u|^{2} dx,$$

holds for any ball  $B_{2r}$  of radius 2r contained in 2B.

On the other hand simple calculations yield, where  $v = \Re u$  and  $w = \Im u$ ,

$$\begin{split} \partial_j (a_{ij}\partial_i |u|^2) + 2V \cdot \nabla |u|^2 + 4(|\Re d| + |\Im d|)|u|^2 \\ &\geqslant 2a_{ij}\partial_i v \partial_j v + 2a_{ij}\partial_i w \partial_j w \geqslant 0 \quad \text{in } 2B_+ \end{split}$$

and  $|u|^2 = 0$  on  $\partial(2B_+) \cap \overline{\mathbb{R}^n_+}$ .

Harnak's inequality at the boundary (see [12, Theorem 9.26, page 250]) then yields

$$\sup_{B_r \cap B_+} |u|^2 \le \frac{C}{|B_{2r}|} \int_{B_{2r} \cap B_+} |u|^2 dx,$$

for any ball  $B_{2r}$  of radius 2r contained in 2B.

Define  $\tilde{u}$  by

$$\tilde{u}(x', x_n) = u(x', x_n) \text{ if } (x', x_n) \in 2B_+,$$
  
 $\tilde{u}(x', x_n) = u(x', -x_n) \text{ if } (x', -x_n) \in 2B_+.$ 

Therefore  $\tilde{u}$  belongs to  $H^1(2B) \cap L^{\infty}(2B)$  and satisfies

$$(3.6) \qquad \int_{B_{2r}} |\tilde{u}|^2 dx \leqslant C \int_{B_r} |\tilde{u}|^2 dx,$$

(3.7) 
$$\sup_{B_r} |\tilde{u}|^2 \leqslant \frac{C}{|B_{2r}|} \int_{B_{2r}} |\tilde{u}|^2 dx,$$

for any ball  $B_{2r}$  of radius 2r contained in 2B.

Inequalities (3.6) and (3.7) at hand we mimic the proof of [9, Theorem 4.2, page 1784] in order to obtain that  $|\tilde{u}|^{-\delta} \in L^1(B)$ , for some  $\delta > 0$  depending on u. Whence  $|u|^{-\delta} \in L^1(B_+)$ .

Second step. As  $\partial M$  is compact there exists a finite cover  $(U_{\alpha})$  of  $\partial M$  and  $C^{\infty}$ -diffeomorphisms  $f_{\alpha}: U_{\alpha} \to 2B$  so that  $f_{\alpha}(U_{\alpha} \cap M) = 2B_{+}, f_{\alpha}(U_{\alpha} \cap \partial M) = 2B \cap \overline{\mathbb{R}^{n}_{+}}$  and, for any  $x \in \partial M$ ,  $x \in V_{\alpha} = f_{\alpha}^{-1}(B)$ , for some  $\alpha$ . Then  $u_{\alpha} = \varphi \circ f_{\alpha}^{-1}$  satisfies  $L_{\alpha}u_{\alpha} = 0$  in 2B and u = 0 on  $\partial(2B_{+}) \cap \overline{\mathbb{R}^{n}_{+}}$  for some  $L = L_{\alpha}$  satisfying the conditions of the first step. Hence  $|u_{\alpha}|^{-\delta_{\alpha}} \in L^{1}(B_{+})$  and then  $|\varphi|^{-\delta_{\alpha}} \in L^{1}(V_{\alpha})$ . Let V the union of  $V_{\alpha}$ 's. Since  $u \in L^{\infty}(V)$  we get  $|u|^{-\delta_{0}} \in L^{1}(V)$  with  $\delta_{0} = \min \delta_{\alpha}$ . Next, let  $\epsilon$  sufficiently small in such a way that  $M \setminus M_{\epsilon} \subset V$ , where  $M_{\epsilon} = \{x \in M; \text{ dist}(x, \partial M) > \epsilon\}$ . Proceeding as previously it is not hard to get that there exists  $\delta_{1}$  so that  $|\varphi|^{-\delta_{1}} \in L^{1}(M_{\epsilon/2})$ . Finally, as it is expected we obtain that  $|\varphi|^{-\delta} \in L^{1}(M)$  with  $\delta = \min(\delta_{0}, \delta_{1})$ .

**Lemma 3.2.** Let  $\varphi$  be as in Proposition 3.2. There exists a constant C > 0, depending on  $\varphi$ , so that we have

$$||f||_{L^2(M)} \le C||f||_{L^{\infty}(M)}^{\frac{2}{2+\delta}} ||f\varphi||_{L^2(M)}^{\frac{\delta}{2+\delta}},$$

for any  $f \in L^{\infty}(M)$ 

*Proof.* Let  $\delta = \delta(\varphi)$  given as in the preceding proposition. Since  $\varphi$  belongs to  $L^{\infty}(M)$ , substituting  $\delta$  by min $(1, \delta)$  if necessary, we may assume that  $\delta < 2$ . We get by applying Cauchy-Schwarz's inequality

$$\int_{M} |f|^{\delta/2} dV \leqslant \||f\varphi|^{\delta}\|_{L^{1}(M)}^{1/2} \||\varphi|^{-\delta}\|_{L^{1}(M)}^{1/2}.$$

But by Hölder's inequality

$$||f\varphi|^{\delta}|_{L^{1}(M)}^{1/2} \leq \operatorname{Vol}(M)^{(2-\delta)/4}||f\varphi||_{L^{2}(M)}^{\delta/2}.$$

Whence

(3.8) 
$$||f|^{\delta/2}|_{L^1(M)} \leq \operatorname{Vol}(M)^{(2-\delta)/4}||f\varphi||_{L^2(M)}^{\delta/2} ||\varphi|^{-\delta}||_{L^1(M)}^{1/2}.$$

On the other hand

(3.9) 
$$||f||_{L^{2}(M)} \leq ||f||_{L^{\infty}(M)}^{1-\delta/4} ||f|^{\delta/2}||_{L^{1}(M)}^{1/2}.$$

A combination of (3.8) and (3.9) yields

$$||f||_{L^2(M)} \le C||f||_{L^{\infty}(M)}^{1-\delta/4} ||f\varphi||_{L^2(M)}^{\delta/4},$$

which is the expected inequality.

#### 4. Inverse source problem: abstract framework

Let H be a Hilbert space and  $A: D(A) \subset H \to H$  be the generator of continuous semigroup T(t). An operator  $\mathscr{C} \in \mathscr{B}(D(A),Y)$ , Y is another Hilbert space which is identified with its dual space, is called an admissible observation for T(t) if for some (and hence for all)  $\tau > 0$  the operator  $\Psi \in \mathscr{B}(D(A), L^2((0,\tau),Y))$  given by

$$(\Psi x)(t) = \mathscr{C}T(t)x, \ t \in [0, \tau], \ x \in D(A),$$

has a bounded extension to H.

We introduce the definition of exact observability for the system

$$(4.1) z'(t) = Az(t), z(0) = x,$$

$$(4.2) y(t) = \mathscr{C}z(t),$$

where  $\mathscr{C}$  is an admissible observation for T(t). The pair  $(A,\mathscr{C})$  is said exactly observable at time  $\tau > 0$  if there is a constant  $\kappa$  such that the solution (z,y) of (4.1) and (4.2) satisfies

$$\int_0^{\tau} \|y(t)\|_Y^2 dt \geqslant \kappa^2 \|x\|_H^2, \ \ x \in D(A).$$

Or equivalently

(4.3) 
$$\int_0^\tau \|(\Psi x)(t)\|_Y^2 dt \geqslant \kappa^2 \|x\|_H^2, \ x \in D(A).$$

Consider the Cauchy problem

$$(4.4) z'(t) = Az(t) + \lambda(t)x, \ z(0) = 0$$

and set

$$(4.5) y(t) = \mathscr{C}z(t), \ t \in [0, \tau].$$

By Duhamel's formula we have

(4.6) 
$$y(t) = \int_0^t \lambda(t-s)\mathscr{C}T(s)xds = \int_0^t \lambda(t-s)(\Psi x)(s)ds.$$

Let

$$H^1_{\ell}((0,\tau),Y) = \{u \in H^1((0,\tau),Y); u(0) = 0\}.$$

Define the operator  $S: L^2((0,\tau),Y) \longrightarrow H^1_{\ell}((0,\tau),Y)$  by

(4.7) 
$$(Sh)(t) = \int_0^t \lambda(t-s)h(s)ds.$$

If  $E = S\Psi$  then (4.6) takes the form

$$y(t) = (Ex)(t).$$

**Theorem 4.1.** Assume that  $(A,\mathcal{C})$  is exactly observable for  $\tau \geqslant \tau_0$ , for some  $\tau_0 > 0$ . Let  $\lambda \in H^1(0,\tau)$  satisfies  $\lambda(0) \neq 0$ . Then E is one-to-one from H onto  $H^1_{\ell}((0,\tau),Y)$  and

(4.8) 
$$\frac{\kappa |\lambda(0)|}{\sqrt{2}} e^{-\tau \frac{\|\lambda'\|_{L^{2}(0,\tau)}^{2}}{|\lambda(0)|^{2}}} \|x\|_{H} \leqslant \|Ex\|_{H^{1}_{\ell}((0,\tau),Y)}, \quad x \in H.$$

*Proof.* Taking first the derivative with respect to t of both sides of the integral equation

$$\int_0^t \lambda(t-s)\varphi(s)ds = \psi(t)$$

we get the following Volterra integral equation of second kind

$$\lambda(0)\varphi(t) + \int_0^t \lambda'(t-s)\varphi(s)ds = \psi'(t).$$

Mimicking the proof of [14, Theorem 2, page 33] we obtain that this integral equation has a unique solution  $\varphi \in L^2((0,\tau),Y)$  and

$$\|\varphi\|_{L^2((0,\tau),Y)} \le C \|\psi'\|_{L^2((0,\tau),Y)}$$

$$\le C \|\psi\|_{H^1_{\tau}((0,\tau),Y)}.$$

Here  $C = C(\lambda)$  is a constant.

For estimating the constant C above we first use the elementary convexity inequality  $(a+b)^2 \leq 2(a^2+b^2)$  in order to get

$$\||\lambda(0)|\varphi(t)\|_Y^2 \leqslant 2\left(\int_0^t \frac{|\lambda'(t-s)|}{|\lambda(0)|} \left[|\lambda(0)|\|\varphi(s)\|_Y\right] ds\right)^2 + 2\|\psi'(t)\|_Y^2.$$

Thus

$$|\lambda(0)|^2 \|\varphi(t)\|_Y^2 \leqslant 2 \frac{\|\lambda'\|_{L^2((0,\tau))}^2}{|\lambda(0)|^2} \int_0^t |\varphi(0)|^2 \|\varphi(s)\|_Y^2 ds + 2\|\psi'(t)\|_Y^2$$

by the Cauchy-Schwarz's inequality. Therefore using Gronwall's lemma we obtain in a straightforward manner

$$\|\varphi\|_{L^2((0,\tau),Y)} \leqslant \frac{\sqrt{2}}{|\lambda(0)|} e^{\tau \frac{\|\lambda'\|_{L^2((0,\tau))}^2}{|\lambda(0)|^2}} \|\psi'\|_{L^2((0,\tau),Y)}$$

and then

$$\|\varphi\|_{L^2((0,\tau),Y)} \leqslant \frac{\sqrt{2}}{|\lambda(0)|} e^{\tau \frac{\|\lambda'\|_{L^2((0,\tau))}^2}{|\lambda(0)|^2}} \|S\varphi\|_{H^1_{\ell}((0,\tau),Y)}.$$

In light of (4.3) we end up getting

$$||Ex||_{H^1_{\ell}((0,\tau),Y)} \geqslant \frac{\kappa |\lambda(0)|}{\sqrt{2}} e^{-\tau \frac{\|\lambda'\|^2_{L^2((0,\tau))}}{|\lambda(0)|^2}} ||x||_H.$$

This is the expected inequality.

We shall need a variant of Theorem 4.1. If  $(A,\mathscr{C})$  is as in Theorem 4.1 then, as in the preceding section, by the perturbation argument in [28, Proposition 6.3.3, page 189], there exist  $\aleph > 0$  and  $\kappa > 0$  such that for any  $P \in \mathscr{B}(H)$  satisfying  $\|P\| \leq \aleph$  we have that  $(A+P,\mathscr{C})$  is exactly observable with  $\kappa(P+A) \geq \kappa$ .

Define  $E^P$  similarly to E by substituting in E A by A + P.

**Theorem 4.2.** Assume that  $(A, \mathcal{C})$  is exactly observable for  $\tau \geq \tau_0$ , for some  $\tau_0 > 0$ , and let  $\lambda \in H^1(0, \tau)$  satisfies  $\lambda(0) \neq 0$ . There exist  $\aleph > 0$  and  $\kappa > 0$  so that for any  $P \in \mathcal{B}(H)$  satisfying  $||P|| \leq \aleph$  we have that  $E^P$  is one-to-one from H onto  $H^1_{\ell}((0, \tau), Y)$  and

(4.9) 
$$\frac{\kappa |\lambda(0)|}{\sqrt{2}} e^{-\tau \frac{\|\lambda'\|_{L^{2}(0,\tau)}^{2}}{|\lambda(0)|^{2}}} \|x\|_{H} \leq \|E^{P}x\|_{H^{1}_{\ell}((0,\tau),Y)}, \quad x \in H.$$

We will consider inverse source problems with singular sources. For this purpose we need to extend Theorem 4.1. Fix then  $\varrho$  in the resolvent set of A. Let  $H_1$  be the space D(A) equipped with the norm  $\|x\|_1 = \|(\varrho - A)x\|$  and denote by  $H_{-1}$  the completion of H with respect to the norm  $\|x\|_{-1} = \|(\varrho - A)^{-1}x\|$ . As we observed in [28, Proposition 4.2, page 1644] and its proof, when  $x \in H_{-1}$  (which is the dual space of  $H_1$  with respect to the pivot space H) and  $\lambda \in H^1(0,\tau)$ , then according to the classical extrapolation theory of semigroups the Cauchy problem (4.1) has a unique solution  $z \in C([0,\tau],H)$ . In addition y given in (4.2) belongs to  $L^2((0,\tau),Y)$ .

If  $x \in H$  we have by Duhamel's formula

(4.10) 
$$y(t) = \int_0^t \lambda(t-s)\mathscr{C}T(s)xds = \int_0^t \lambda(t-s)(\Psi x)(s)ds.$$

Let

$$H^1_\ell((0,\tau),Y) = \left\{ u \in H^1((0,\tau),Y); \ u(0) = 0 \right\}.$$

We define the operator  $S: L^2((0,\tau),Y) \longrightarrow H^1_{\ell}((0,\tau),Y)$  by

(4.11) 
$$(Sh)(t) = \int_0^t \lambda(t-s)h(s)ds.$$

Hence  $E = S\Psi$  then (4.10) the form

$$y(t) = (Ex)(t).$$

Let 
$$\mathcal{Z} = (\rho - A^*)^{-1}(X + \mathscr{C}^*Y)$$
.

**Theorem 4.3.** Assume that  $(A, \mathcal{C})$  is exactly observable at time  $\tau$ . Then

- (i) E is one-to-one from H onto  $H^1_{\ell}((0,\tau),Y)$ .
- (ii) E is extended to an isomorphism, denoted by  $\tilde{E}$ , from  $\mathcal{Z}'$  onto  $L^2((0,\tau),Y)$ .
- (iii) There exists a constant  $\tilde{\kappa}$ , independent of  $\lambda$ , so that

(4.12) 
$$||x||_{\mathcal{Z}'} \leqslant \tilde{\kappa} |\lambda(0)| e^{\frac{||\lambda'||_{L^2((0,\tau))}^2}{|\lambda(0)|^2} \tau} ||\tilde{E}x||_{L^2((0,\tau),Y)}.$$

*Proof.* We give the proof of (ii) and (iii) and we note that (i) is contained in Theorem 4.1. We first observe that  $S^*$ , the adjoint of S, maps  $L^2((0,\tau),Y)$  into  $H^1_r((0,\tau),Y)$ , where

$$H^1_r((0,\tau),Y) = \left\{ u \in H^1((0,\tau),Y); \ u(\tau) = 0 \right\}.$$

Moreover

$$S^*h(t) = \int_t^\tau \lambda(s-t)h(s)ds, \quad h \in L^2((0,\tau), Y).$$

Fix  $h \in L^2((0,\tau), Y)$  and set  $k = S^*h$ . Then

$$k'(t) = \lambda(0)h(t) - \int_t^\tau \lambda'(s-t)h(s)ds.$$

Hence

$$\begin{split} |\lambda(0)\|h(t)\|^2 &\leqslant \left(\int_t^\tau \frac{|\lambda'(s-t)|}{|\lambda(0)|} [|\lambda(0)|\|h(s)\|] ds + \|k'(t)\|\right)^2 \\ &\leqslant 2 \left(\int_t^\tau \frac{|\lambda'(s-t)|}{|\lambda(0)|} [|\lambda(0)|\|h(s)\|] ds\right)^2 + 2\|k'(t)\|^2 \\ &\leqslant 2 \frac{\|\lambda'\|_{L^2((0,\tau))}^2}{|\lambda(0)|^2} \int_0^t [|\lambda(0)|\|h(s)\|]^2 ds + 2\|k'(t)\|^2. \end{split}$$

The last estimate is obtained by applying Cauchy-Schwarz's inequality. Then Gronwall's lemma yields

$$[|\lambda(0)| ||h(t)||]^2 \leqslant 2e^{2\frac{|\lambda'|^2_{L^2((0,\tau))}}{|\lambda(0)|^2}\tau} ||k'(t)||^2.$$

Therefore

$$||h||_{L^{2}((0,\tau),Y)} \leqslant \frac{\sqrt{2}}{|\lambda(0)|} e^{\frac{||\lambda'||_{L^{2}((0,\tau))}^{2}}{|\lambda(0)|^{2}}\tau} ||k'||_{L^{2}((0,\tau),Y)}.$$

Whence

$$(4.13) ||h||_{L^{2}((0,\tau),Y)} \leqslant \frac{\sqrt{2}}{|\lambda(0)|} e^{\frac{\|\lambda'\|_{L^{2}((0,\tau))}^{2}}{|\lambda(0)|^{2}} \tau} ||S^{*}h||_{H^{1}_{r}((0,\tau),Y)}.$$

The adjoint operator of  $S^*$ , acting as a bounded operator from  $[H_r^1((0,\tau);Y)]'$  into  $L^2((0,\tau);Y)$ , gives an extension of S. We denote by  $\tilde{S}$  this operator. By [28, Proposition 4.1, page 1644]  $\tilde{S}$  defines an isomorphism from  $[H_r((0,1);Y)]'$  onto  $L^2((0,\tau);Y)$ . In light of the identity

$$\|\tilde{S}\|_{\mathscr{B}([H^1_r((0,\tau);Y)]';L^2((0,\tau),Y))} = \|S^*\|_{\mathscr{B}(L^2((0,\tau);Y);H^1_r((0,\tau),Y))},$$

(4.13) implies

$$(4.14) \qquad \frac{|\lambda(0)|}{\sqrt{2}}e^{-\frac{\|\lambda'\|_{L^2((0,\tau))}^2}{|\lambda(0)|^2}\tau} \leqslant \|\tilde{S}\|_{\mathscr{B}([H^1_r((0,\tau);Y)]';L^2((0,\tau);Y))}.$$

On the other hand according to [28, Proposition 2.13, page 1641]  $\Psi$  possesses a unique bounded extension, denoted by  $\tilde{\Psi}$ , from  $\mathcal{Z}'$  into  $[H_r^1((0,\tau);Y)]'$  and there exists a constant c>0 so that

(4.15) 
$$\|\tilde{\Psi}\|_{\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{Z}';[H_r^1((0,\tau);Y)]')} \geqslant c.$$

The operator  $\tilde{E} = \tilde{S}\tilde{\Psi}$  gives the unique extension of E to an isomorphism from  $\mathcal{Z}'$  onto  $L^2((0,\tau),Y)$ .

We end up the proof by noting that (4.12) follows from (4.14) and (4.15).

# 5. Inverse problems for evolution equations associated to Laplace-Beltrami operator

Throughout this section M is a compact n-dimensional Riemannian manifold with boundary,  $\tau > 0$  and  $\Gamma$  is a nonempty open subset of  $\partial M$ .

5.1. **Inverse source problem for the wave equation.** Consider the IBVP for the wave equation

(5.1) 
$$\begin{cases} \partial_t^2 u - \Delta u + q(x)u + a(x)\partial_t u = g(t)f(x) & \text{in } M \times (0,\tau), \\ u = 0 & \text{on } \partial M \times (0,\tau), \\ u(\cdot,0) = 0, \ \partial_t u(\cdot,0) = 0. \end{cases}$$

Assume that  $(\Gamma, \tau)$  geometrically control M. Fix  $(q_0, a_0) \in L^{\infty}(M) \oplus L^{\infty}(M)$  and denote by  $2\kappa$  the observability constant for  $(q_0, a_0)$ . In light of Theorem 2.1 there exists a constant  $\beta > 0$  only depending on  $\Gamma$ , M and  $(q_0, a_0)$  such that, for any  $(q, a) = (q_0, a_0) + (\tilde{q}, \tilde{a})$  with  $(\tilde{q}, \tilde{a}) \in L^{\infty}(M) \oplus L^{\infty}(M)$  satisfying

(5.2) 
$$\|(\tilde{q}, \tilde{a})\|_{L^{\infty}(M) \times L^{\infty}(M)} \leqslant \beta,$$

the observability contant for (q, a) is  $\kappa$ . We denote the set of couples  $(q, a) \in L^{\infty}(M) \oplus L^{\infty}(M)$  of the form  $(q, a) = (q_0, a_0) + (\tilde{q}, \tilde{a})$ , where  $(\tilde{q}, \tilde{a}) \in L^{\infty}(M) \oplus L^{\infty}(M)$  satisfies (5.2), by  $\mathscr{D}$ .

Let  $f \in L^2(M)$  and  $g \in H^1(0,\tau)$  with  $g(0) \neq 0$ . We have according to Theorem 4.1

(5.3) 
$$||f||_{L^{2}(M)} \leq \frac{\sqrt{2}}{\kappa |g(0)|} e^{\tau \frac{||g'||_{L^{2}(0,\tau)}^{2}}{|g(0)|^{2}}} ||\partial_{\nu}u||_{H^{1}((0,\tau),L^{2}(\Gamma))},$$

where u = u(q, a, f, g) denotes the solution of the IBVP (5.1).

An immediate consequence of this inequality is the following theorem.

**Theorem 5.1.** Assume that  $(\Gamma, \tau)$  geometrically control M. Let  $g \in H^1(0, \tau)$  satisfying  $g(0) \neq 0$ . Then there exists a constant C, only depending on  $(q_0, a_0)$ ,  $\kappa$ ,  $\Gamma$ ,  $\tau$  and g, so that for any  $(q, a) \in \mathscr{D}$  we have

$$||f||_{L^2(M)} \le C ||\partial_{\nu} u||_{H^1((0,\tau),L^2(\Gamma))}$$

Here u = u(q, a, f, g) denotes the solution of the IBVP (5.1).

Set for simplicity v = v(q, f, g) = u(q, 0, f, g). That is v is the solution of the IBVP

(5.4) 
$$\begin{cases} \partial_t^2 u - \Delta u + q(x)u = g(t)f(x) & \text{in } M \times (0, \tau), \\ u = 0 & \text{on } \partial M \times (0, \tau), \\ u(\cdot, 0) = 0, & \partial_t u(\cdot, 0) = 0. \end{cases}$$

Using Duhamel's formula it is not hard to check that

$$v(x,t) = \int_0^t g(t-s)w(x,s)ds,$$

where w = w(f) is the solution of the IBVP

(5.5) 
$$\begin{cases} \partial_t^2 w - \Delta w + q(x)w = 0 & \text{in } M \times (0, \tau), \\ w = 0 & \text{on } \partial M \times (0, \tau), \\ w(\cdot, 0) = f, \ \partial_t w(\cdot, 0) = 0. \end{cases}$$

Let

$$H^1_{\ell}((0,\tau), L^2(\Gamma)) = \{ u \in H^1((0,\tau), L^2(\Gamma)); \ u(0) = 0 \}$$

and define the operator  $S: L^2(\Gamma \times (0,\tau)) \longrightarrow H^1_{\ell}((0,\tau),L^2(\Gamma))$  by

$$(Sh)(t) = \int_0^t g(t-s)h(s)ds.$$

We have seen in the proof of Theorem 4.1 that S is an isomorphism and

$$||h||_{L^2(\Gamma\times(0,\tau))} \leqslant \frac{\sqrt{2}}{\kappa |g(0)|} e^{\tau \frac{||g'||_{L^2((0,\tau))}^2}{||g(0)||^2}} ||Sh||_{H^1((0,\tau),L^2(\Gamma))}.$$

Whence

(5.6) 
$$\|\partial_{\nu}w\|_{L^{2}(\Gamma\times(0,\tau))} \leqslant \frac{\sqrt{2}}{\kappa|g(0)|} e^{\tau \frac{\|g'\|_{L^{2}((0,\tau))}^{2}}{|g(0)|^{2}}} \|\partial_{\nu}v\|_{H^{1}((0,\tau),L^{2}(\Gamma))}.$$

Let  $\aleph > 0$ , assume that  $\mathbf{d}(\Gamma) < \infty$  and let  $\tau > 2\mathbf{d}(\Gamma)$ . From Theorem 2.2 there exist three constants C,  $\kappa$  and  $\epsilon_0$  so that for any  $q \in L^{\infty}(M)$  with  $\|q\|_{L^{\infty}(M)} \leq \aleph$  we have

$$(5.7) C\|f\|_{L^2(M)} \leqslant e^{\kappa \epsilon} \|\partial_{\nu} w\|_{L^2(\Gamma \times (0,\tau))} + \frac{1}{\epsilon} \|f\|_{H^1_0(M)}, \quad \epsilon \geqslant \epsilon_0.$$

Now (5.6) in (5.7) yields

$$(5.8) C\|f\|_{L^{2}(M)} \leqslant e^{\kappa \epsilon} \frac{\sqrt{2}}{\kappa |g(0)|} e^{\tau \frac{\|g'\|_{L^{2}((0,\tau))}^{2}}{|g(0)|^{2}}} \|\partial_{\nu}v\|_{H^{1}((0,\tau),L^{2}(\Gamma))} + \frac{1}{\epsilon} \|f\|_{H^{1}_{0}(M)}$$

for any  $\epsilon \geqslant \epsilon_0$ .

Let

$$\Psi(\rho) = |\ln \rho|^{-1} + \rho, \quad \rho > 0,$$

and  $\Psi(0) = 0$ . Then a standard minimization argument with respect to  $\epsilon$  in (5.8) enables us establishing the following result.

**Theorem 5.2.** Let  $\aleph > 0$ , R > 0 and  $\tau > 2\mathbf{d}(\Gamma)$ . Let  $g \in H^1(0,\tau)$  satisfying  $g(0) \neq 0$ . Then there exists a constant C > 0, only depending on  $\aleph$ , R,  $\Gamma$ ,  $\tau$  and g, so that for any  $q \in L^{\infty}(M)$  with  $\|q\|_{L^{\infty}(M)} \leq \aleph$  and any  $f \in H^1_0(M)$  satisfying  $\|f\|_{H^1_0(M)} \leq R$  we have

$$||f||_{L^2(M)} \le C\Psi\left(||\partial_{\nu}v||_{H^1((0,\tau),L^2(\Gamma))}\right),$$

where v = v(q, f, g) is the solution of the IBVP (5.4).

5.2. Determining the potential and the damping coefficient in a wave equation. Introduce the IBVP for the wave equation

(5.9) 
$$\begin{cases} \partial_t^2 u - \Delta u + q(x)u + a(x)\partial_t u = 0 & \text{in } M \times (0, \tau), \\ u = 0 & \text{on } \partial M \times (0, \tau), \\ u(\cdot, 0) = u_0, \quad \partial_t u(\cdot, 0) = u_1. \end{cases}$$

Let  $\aleph > 0$  and recall that  $\mathcal{H}_0 = H_0^1(M) \oplus L^2(M)$ . We have seen in Section 1 that, for any  $(q, a) \in L^{\infty}(M) \oplus L^{\infty}(M)$ ,  $\tau > 0$  and  $(u_0, u_1) \in \mathcal{H}_0$ , the IBVP (5.9) has a unique solution

$$u = u(q, a, (u_0, u_1)) \in C([0, \tau], H_0^1(M))$$

so that  $\partial_t u \in C([0,\tau], L^2(M))$  and  $\partial_\nu u \in L^2(\partial M \times (0,\tau))$ . Moreover under the assumption

$$\|(q,a)\|_{L^{\infty}(M) \oplus L^{\infty}(M)} \leq \aleph$$

we have

$$(5.10) ||u||_{C([0,\tau],H_0^1(M))} + ||\partial_t u||_{C([0,\tau],L^2(M))} \le C||(u_0,u_1)||_{\mathcal{H}_0}$$

and

(5.11) 
$$\|\partial_{\nu}u\|_{L^{2}(\partial M\times(0,\tau))} \leqslant C\|(u_{0},u_{1})\|_{\mathcal{H}_{0}}.$$

Here  $C = C(\aleph)$  is a nondecreasing function.

Define the initial-to-boundary operator  $\Lambda(q, a)$  as follows

$$\Lambda(q, a) : (u_0, u_1) \in \mathcal{H}_0 \mapsto \partial_{\nu} u(q, a, (u_0, u_1)) \in L^2(\Gamma \times (0, \tau)).$$

Let

$$\mathcal{H}_1 = (H_0^1(M) \cap H^2(M)) \oplus H_0^1(M).$$

Observing that

$$\partial_t u(q, a, (u_0, u_1)) = u(q, a, (u_1, \Delta u_0 - qu_0 - au_1))$$

we easily obtain that  $\Lambda(q, a) \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_1, H^1((0, \tau), L^2(\Gamma)))$ . Furthermore we get as a consequence of (5.11)

$$\|\Lambda(q,a)\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathcal{H}_1,H^1((0,\tau),L^2(\Gamma)))} \leqslant C,$$

where the constant C is similar to that in (5.11).

Denote by  $\mathscr{D}_0$  the set  $\mathscr{D}$  in the case where  $(q_0, a_0) = (q_0, 0)$  with  $q_0 \ge 0$ . Define then  $\mathscr{D}_1(\aleph)$  as the subset of  $\mathscr{D}_0$  consisting in couples  $(q, a) \in H^2(M) \oplus H^2(M)$  satisfying

$$\|(q,a)\|_{H^2(M)\oplus H^2(M)} \leqslant \aleph.$$

It is then clear that  $\mathcal{D}_1(\aleph)$  is nonempty provided that  $\aleph \geqslant \aleph_0$ , for some  $\aleph_0 = \aleph(\beta)$ .

**Theorem 5.3.** Assume that  $(\Gamma, \tau)$  geometrically control M and let  $\aleph \geqslant \aleph_0$ . There exists a constant C > 0, depending on  $\aleph$  and  $q_0$ , so that for any  $(q, a) \in \mathscr{D}_1(\aleph)$  we have

$$\|q - q_0\|_{L^2(M)} + \|a - 0\|_{L^2(M)} \le C\|\Lambda(q, a) - \Lambda(q_0, 0)\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathcal{H}_1, H^1((0, \tau), L^2(\Gamma)))}^{1/2}.$$

*Proof.* Let  $0 \le \phi_1$  be the first eigenfunction of the operator  $-\Delta + q_0$  with domain  $H^2(M) \cap H^1_0(M)$ . This eigenfunction is normalized by  $\|\phi_1\|_{L^2(M)} = 1$ . If

$$u_0 = u(q_0, 0, (\phi_1, i\sqrt{\lambda_1}\phi_1)) = e^{i\sqrt{\lambda_1}t}\phi_1$$
 and  $u = u(q, a, (\phi_1, i\sqrt{\lambda_1}\phi_1))$ 

then  $v = u - u_0$  is the solution of the following IBVP (5.12)

$$\begin{cases}
\partial_t^2 v - \Delta v + qv + a\partial_t v = -[(q - q_0) + i\sqrt{\lambda_1}a]e^{i\sqrt{\lambda_1}t}\phi_1 & \text{in } M \times (0, \tau), \\
v = 0 & \text{on } \partial M \times (0, \tau), \\
v(\cdot, 0) = 0, \quad \partial_t v(\cdot, 0) = 0.
\end{cases}$$

Bearing in mind that  $(\Gamma, \tau)$  geometrically control M we get from Theorems 5.1

$$\|\phi_1(q-q_0)\|_{L^2(M)} + \|\phi_1 a\|_{L^2(M)} \leqslant C \|\partial_{\nu} v\|_{H^1((0,\tau),L^2(\partial M))}.$$

This inequality combined with Corollary 3.1 yields

$$\|q - q_0\|_{L^2(M)} + \|a - 0\|_{L^2(M)} \le C \|\partial_{\nu} v\|_{H^1((0,\tau),L^2(\Gamma))}^{1/2}$$

which gives in a straightforward manner the expected result.

Denote the sequence of eigenvalues, counted according to their multiplicity, of  $A = -\Delta$  with domain  $H^2(M) \cap H^1_0(M)$  by  $0 < \lambda_1 < \lambda_2 \le \ldots \le \lambda_k \to \infty$ . Consider on  $\mathcal{H}_0$  the operators

$$A = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & I \\ -A & 0 \end{pmatrix}, D(A) = \mathcal{H}_1$$

and  $\mathcal{A}(q, a) = \mathcal{A} + \mathcal{B}(q, a)$  with  $D(\mathcal{A}(q, a)) = D(\mathcal{A})$ , where

$$\mathcal{B}(q,a) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ -q & -a \end{pmatrix} \in \mathscr{B}(\mathcal{H}_0).$$

From [28, Proposition 3.7.6, page 100]  $\mathcal{A}$  is skew-adjoint operator with  $0 \in \rho(\mathcal{A})$  and

$$\mathcal{A}^{-1} = \left( \begin{array}{cc} 0 & -A^{-1} \\ I & 0 \end{array} \right).$$

We note that, since  $\mathcal{A}^{-1}: \mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{H}_1$  is bounded and the embedding  $\mathcal{H}_1 \hookrightarrow \mathcal{H}$  is compact,  $\mathcal{A}^{-1}: \mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{H}$  is compact.

Also, from [28, Proposition 3.7.6, page 100]  $\mathcal{A}$  is diagonalizable and its spectrum consists in the sequence  $(i\sqrt{\lambda_k})$ .

Introduce the bounded operator

$$C(q, a) = (i\mathcal{A}^{-1})(-i\mathcal{B}(q, a))(i\mathcal{A}^{-1}).$$

Let  $s_k(\mathcal{C}(q,a))$ ,  $k \ge 1$ , denote the singular values of  $\mathcal{C}(q,a)$ , that is the eigenvalues of  $[\mathcal{C}(q,a)^*\mathcal{C}(q,a)]^{\frac{1}{2}}$ . In light of [13, formulas (2.2) and (2.3), page 27] we have

$$s_k(\mathcal{C}(q,a)) \leq \|\mathcal{B}(q,a)\| s_k(i\mathcal{A}^{-1})^2 = \|\mathcal{B}(q,a)\| \lambda_k^{-1}$$

where  $\|\mathcal{B}(q, a)\|$  denote the norm of  $\mathcal{B}(q, a)$  in  $\mathscr{B}(\mathcal{H})$ .

On the other hand referring to Weyl's asymptotic formula we get  $\lambda_k = O(k^{2/n})$ . Hence  $\mathcal{C}_{q,a}$  belongs to the Shatten class  $\mathcal{S}_p$  for any p > n/2, that is

$$\sum_{k\geqslant 1} \left[ s_k(\mathcal{C}(q,a)) \right]^p < \infty.$$

We get by applying [13, Theorem 10.1, page 276] that the spectrum of  $\mathcal{A}(q, a)$  consists in a sequence of eigenvalues  $(\mu_k(q, a))$ , counted according to their multiplicity, and the corresponding eigenfunctions  $(\phi_k(q, a))$  form a Riesz basis of  $\mathcal{H}$ .

Fix (q, a) and k. Set  $\mu = \mu_k(q, a)$  and  $\phi = \phi_k(q, a) = (\varphi, \psi) \in \mathcal{H}_1$  be an eigenfunction associated to  $\mu$ . Then it is straightforward to check that  $\psi = \mu \varphi$  and  $(-\Delta + q + a\mu + \mu^2)\varphi = 0$  in M. Since  $-\Delta \varphi = f$  in M with  $f = -(q + a\mu + \mu^2)\varphi$  we can use iteratively [12, Corollary 7.11, page 158] (Sobelev embedding theorem) together with [12, Theorem 9.15, page 241] in order to obtain that  $\varphi \in W^{2,p}(M)$  for any  $1 . In particular <math>\varphi, |\varphi|^2 \in W^{2,n}(M) \cap C^0(M)$ . In other words  $\varphi$  satisfies the assumption of Proposition 3.2.

Set, for  $(q, a), (\tilde{q}, \tilde{a}) \in \mathcal{D}$ ,

$$u = u(q, a, \phi)$$
 and  $\tilde{u} = u(\tilde{q}, \tilde{a}, \phi)$ .

Then similarly to Theorem 5.3 we prove, where  $v = \tilde{u} - u$ ,

$$\|\varphi(\tilde{q}-q)\|_{L^{2}(M)} + \|\varphi(\tilde{a}-a)\|_{L^{2}(M)} \le C\|\partial_{\nu}v\|_{H^{1}((0,\tau),L^{2}(\partial M))}.$$

This and Lemma 3.1 yield

**Theorem 5.4.** Assume that  $(\Gamma, \tau)$  geometrically control M and fix  $(q, a) \in \mathcal{D}$ . Then there exists two constants C > 0 and  $\alpha > 0$ , depending of (q, a), so that for any  $(\tilde{q}, \tilde{a}) \in \mathcal{D}$  we have

$$\|\tilde{q} - q\|_{L^2(M)} + \|\tilde{a} - a\|_{L^2(M)} \leqslant C \|\Lambda(\tilde{q}, \tilde{a}) - \Lambda(q, a)\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathcal{H}_1, H^1((0, \tau), L^2(\Gamma)))}^{\alpha}.$$

5.3. Determining the potential in a wave equation without geometric control condition. Consider the IBVP

(5.13) 
$$\begin{cases} \partial_t^2 u - \Delta u + q(x)u = 0 & \text{in } M \times (0, \tau), \\ u = 0 & \text{on } \partial M \times (0, \tau), \\ u(\cdot, 0) = u_0, \quad \partial_t u(\cdot, 0) = 0. \end{cases}$$

From the preceding subsection the initial-to-boundary mapping

$$\Lambda(q): u_0 \in H_0^1(M) \cap H^2(M) \mapsto \partial_{\nu} u \in H^1((0,\tau), L^2(\Gamma)),$$

where  $u = u(q, u_0)$  is the solution on the IBVP, defines a bounded operator. Moreover for any  $\aleph > 0$  there exists a constant C > 0, depending of  $\aleph$ , so that for any  $q \in L^{\infty}(M)$  satisfying  $\|q\|_{L^{\infty}(M)} \leqslant \aleph$  we have

$$\|\Lambda(q)\|_{\mathscr{B}(H^1_0(M)\cap H^2(M),H^1((0,\tau),L^2(\Gamma)))} \le C.$$

**Theorem 5.5.** Let  $\aleph > 0$  and suppose that  $\tau > 2\mathbf{d}(\Gamma)$ . There exists a constant C > 0 so that for any  $0 \le q \in L^{\infty}(M)$ ,  $\tilde{q} \in L^{\infty}(M)$  satisfying  $q - \tilde{q} \in W^{1,\infty}(M)$  and

$$\|q\|_{L^{\infty}(M)} \leqslant \aleph, \quad \|\tilde{q}\|_{L^{\infty}(M)} \leqslant \aleph, \quad \|q - \tilde{q}\|_{W^{1,\infty}(M)} \leqslant \aleph$$

we have

$$\|q - \tilde{q}\|_{L^2(M)} \leqslant C\Phi\left(\|\Lambda(q) - \Lambda(\tilde{q})\|_{\mathscr{B}(H^1_0(M) \cap H^2(M), H^1((0,\tau), L^2(\Gamma)))}\right),$$

with 
$$\Phi(\rho) = |\ln \rho|^{-1/(n+3)} + \rho$$
,  $\rho > 0$ , and  $\Phi(0) = 0$ .

Proof. Let  $0 \le q \in L^{\infty}(M)$  satisfying  $\|q\|_{L^{\infty}(M)} \le \aleph$ . Denote by  $0 < \lambda_1 \le \lambda_2 \ldots \le \lambda_k \ldots$  the sequence of eigenvalues of the operator  $-\Delta + q$  with domain  $H_0^1(M) \cap H^2(M)$ . Let  $(\phi_k)$  an orthonormal basis of  $L^2(M)$  consisting in eigenfunctions, each  $\phi_k$  is an eigenvalue for  $\lambda_k$ . Note that according to the usual elliptic regularity we have  $\phi_k \in C^{\infty}(M)$  for each k.

By the Weyl's asymptotic formula and the min-max principle there exists a constant  $\varkappa > 1$ , depending on  $\aleph$  but not in q, so that

$$(5.14) \varkappa^{-1} k^{2/n} \leqslant \lambda_k \leqslant \varkappa k^{2/n}.$$

Set, for  $\tilde{q} \in L^{\infty}(M)$  satisfying  $\|\tilde{q}\|_{L^{\infty}(M)} \leq \aleph$ ,

$$u = u(q, \phi_k) = \cos(\lambda_k t)\phi_k$$
 and  $\tilde{u} = u(\tilde{q}, \phi_k)$ .

Then  $v = \tilde{u} - u$  is the solution of the IBVP, where  $g_k(t) = \cos(\sqrt{\lambda_k}t)$ ,

(5.15) 
$$\begin{cases} \partial_t^2 u - \Delta u + \tilde{q}u = (\tilde{q} - q)\phi_k g_k(t) & \text{in } M \times (0, \tau), \\ u = 0 & \text{on } \partial M \times (0, \tau), \\ u(\cdot, 0) = 0, \quad \partial_t u(\cdot, 0) = 0. \end{cases}$$

We have  $||g'_k||^2_{L^2(0,\tau)} \leq \lambda_k \tau$ . Hence

(5.16) 
$$||g_k'||_{L^2(0,\tau)}^2 \leqslant \varkappa \tau k^{2/n}$$

by (5.14).

In the rest of this proof C and c denote generic constant only depending of M,  $\aleph$ ,  $\Gamma$  and  $\tau$ . From (5.8) we have

(5.17) 
$$C\|(\tilde{q}-q)\phi_k\|_{L^2(M)} \leq e^{\kappa\epsilon} e^{ck^{2/n}} \|\partial_{\nu}v\|_{H^1((0,\tau),L^2(\Gamma))} + \frac{1}{\epsilon} \|(\tilde{q}-q)\phi_k\|_{H^1_0(M)}$$
 for any  $\epsilon \geq \epsilon_0$ .

On the other hand

$$\begin{split} \|(\tilde{q} - q)\phi_k\|_{H_0^1(M)} &\leq \|\tilde{q} - q\|_{W^{1,\infty}(M)} \|\phi_k\|_{H_0^1(M)} \\ &\leq 2N\sqrt{\lambda_k} \\ &\leq ck^{1/n} \text{ by (5.14)}. \end{split}$$

This in (5.17) gives

$$C\|(\tilde{q}-q)\phi_k\|_{L^2(M)} \leqslant e^{\kappa\epsilon}e^{ck^{2/n}}\|\partial_{\nu}v\|_{H^1((0,\tau),L^2(\Gamma))} + \frac{k^{1/n}}{\epsilon}, \quad \epsilon \geqslant \epsilon_0.$$

But we have by Cauchy-Schwarz's inequality

$$(\tilde{q} - q, \phi_k)^2 \leqslant \operatorname{Vol}(M) \| (\tilde{q} - q) \phi_k \|_{L^2(M)}.$$

Whence

$$C(\tilde{q} - q, \phi_k)^2 \leqslant e^{\kappa \epsilon} e^{ck^{2/n}} \| \partial_{\nu} v \|_{H^1((0,\tau), L^2(\Gamma))} + \frac{k^{\frac{1}{n}}}{\epsilon}, \quad \epsilon \geqslant \epsilon_0.$$

Also

$$\|\tilde{q} - q\|_{L^{2}(M)}^{2} = \sum_{k \leq \ell} (\tilde{q} - q, \phi_{k})^{2} + \sum_{k > \ell} (\tilde{q} - q, \phi_{k})^{2}$$

$$\leq \sum_{k \leq \ell} (\tilde{q} - q, \phi_{k})^{2} + \frac{1}{\lambda_{\ell+1}} \sum_{k > \ell} \lambda_{k} (\tilde{q} - q, \phi_{k})^{2}$$

$$\leq \sum_{k \leq \ell} (\tilde{q} - q, \phi_{k})^{2} + \frac{N^{2}}{(\ell+1)^{2/n}}.$$

Thus

$$(5.18) C\|\tilde{q} - q\|_{L^2(M)}^2 \leqslant \ell e^{\kappa \epsilon} e^{c\ell^{2/n}} \|\partial_{\nu} v\|_{H^1((0,\tau),L^2(\Gamma))} + \frac{1}{(\ell+1)^{2/n}} + \frac{\ell^{1+1/n}}{\epsilon}.$$

Let  $s \ge 1$  be a real number and let  $\ell$  be the unique integer so that  $\ell \le s < \ell + 1$ . Then (5.18) with that  $\ell$  yields

$$(5.19) C\|\tilde{q} - q\|_{L^{2}(M)}^{2} \leqslant se^{\kappa \epsilon} e^{cs^{2/n}} \|\partial_{\nu}v\|_{H^{1}((0,\tau),L^{2}(\Gamma))} + \frac{1}{s^{2/n}} + \frac{s^{1+1/n}}{\epsilon}.$$

We then get by taking  $\epsilon = s^{3/n+1}$  in (5.19), where  $s_0 = \max \left(1, \epsilon_0^{n/(n+3)}\right)$ ,

$$C\|\tilde{q} - q\|_{L^2(M)}^2 \leqslant \frac{1}{\epsilon^{2/n}} + e^{cs^{2/n+1}} e^{\kappa s^{3/N+1}} \|\hat{\partial}_{\nu}v\|_{H^1((0,\tau),L^2(\Gamma))}, \quad s \geqslant s_0.$$

Therefore

$$C\|\tilde{q} - q\|_{L^2(M)}^2 \le \frac{1}{s^{2/n}} + e^{cs^{3/n+1}} \|\partial_{\nu}v\|_{H^1((0,\tau),L^2(\Gamma))}, \quad s \ge s_0$$

or equivalently

$$C\|\tilde{q} - q\|_{L^2(M)} \leqslant \frac{1}{s^{1/n}} + e^{cs^{3/n+1}} \|\partial_{\nu}v\|_{H^1((0,\tau),L^2(\Gamma))}, \quad s \geqslant s_0.$$

We end up getting the expected inequality by minimizing with respect to s.  $\Box$ 

5.4. **Inverse source problem for the heat equation.** Consider the following IBVP for the heat equation

(5.20) 
$$\begin{cases} \partial_t u - \Delta u + q(x)u = g(t)f(x) & \text{in } M \times (0, \tau), \\ u = 0 & \text{on } \partial M \times (0, \tau), \\ u(\cdot, 0) = 0 & \end{cases}$$

and set  $Q = M \times (0, \tau)$ .

We recall that the anisotropic Sobolev space  $H^{2,1}(Q)$  is given as follows

$$H^{2,1}(Q) = L^2((0,\tau), H^2(M)) \cap H^1((0,\tau), L^2(M)).$$

From classical parabolic regularity theorems for any  $f \in L^2(M)$ ,  $g \in L^2(0,\tau)$  and  $q \in L^{\infty}(M)$  the IBVP (5.20) has a unique solution

$$u = u(q, f, g) \in H^{2,1}(Q).$$

Furthermore if  $\aleph > 0$  then there exists a constant C > 0 so that

$$||u||_{H^{2,1}(Q)} \le C||g||_{L^2(0,\tau)}||f||_{L^2(M)}$$

for any  $q \in L^{\infty}(M)$  satisfying  $||q||_{L^{\infty}(M)} \leq \aleph$ .

If in addition  $g \in H^1(0,\tau)$  then it is not hard to check that  $\partial_t u$  is the solution of the IBVP (5.20) with g substituted by g'. Hence  $\partial_t u \in H^{2,1}(Q)$  and

$$\|\partial_t u\|_{H^{2,1}(Q)} \le C \|g'\|_{L^2(0,\tau)} \|f\|_{L^2(M)}$$

for any  $q \in L^{\infty}(M)$  satisfying  $||q||_{L^{\infty}(M)} \leq \aleph$ , where C is the constant in (5.21).

We derive that  $\partial_{\nu}u$  is well defined as an element of  $H^1((0,\tau),L^2(\Gamma))$ . Therefore by (5.21), (5.22) and the continuity of the trace operator on  $\Gamma$  we have

$$\|\partial_{\nu} u\|_{H^{1}((0,\tau),L^{2}(\Gamma))} \leq C\|g\|_{H^{1}(0,\tau)}\|f\|_{L^{2}(M)},$$

where the constant C is as in (5.21).

The following result will be useful in the sequel.

**Proposition 5.1.** Let  $\aleph > 0$ . There exist two constants c > 0 and C > 0 so that for any  $q \in L^{\infty}(M)$  satisfying  $\|q\|_{L^{\infty}(M)} \leq \aleph$ ,  $f \in H_0^1(M)$  and  $g \in H^1(0,\tau)$  with  $g(0) \neq 0$  we have

$$(5.23) \quad C\|f\|_{L^{2}(M)} \leqslant \frac{1}{\sqrt{\epsilon}} \|f\|_{H_{0}^{1}(M)} + \frac{1}{|g(0)|} e^{\tau \|g'\|_{L^{2}(0,\tau)}^{2}/|g(0)|^{2}} e^{c\epsilon} \|\hat{\partial}_{\nu}u\|_{H^{1}((0,\tau),L^{2}(\Gamma))}$$

for any  $\epsilon \ge 1$ , where u = u(q, f, g) is the solution of the IBVP (5.20).

*Proof.* Pick  $q \in L^{\infty}(M)$  satisfying  $||q||_{L^{\infty}(M)} \leq \aleph$ ,  $f \in H_0^1(M)$  and  $g \in H^1(0,\tau)$  with  $g(0) \neq 0$ . We may assume without loss of generality that  $q \geq 0$ . This is achieved by substituting u by  $ue^{-\aleph t}$ , which is the solution of the IBVP (5.20) when q is replaced by  $q + \aleph$ .

Let  $v = v(q, f) \in H^{2,1}(Q)$  be the unique solution of the IBVP

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t v - \Delta v + q(x)v = 0 & \text{in } M \times (0, \tau), \\ v = 0 & \text{on } \partial M \times (0, \tau), \\ v(\cdot, 0) = f. \end{cases}$$

Then  $\partial_{\nu}v$  is well defined as an element of  $L^2(\Gamma \times (0,\tau))$ . As for the wave equation we have

$$\partial_{\nu} u|_{\Gamma}(\cdot,t) = \int_{0}^{t} g(t-s)\partial_{\nu} v|_{\Gamma}(\cdot,s)ds.$$

Therefore

From the final time observability inequality in Theorem 2.3 we have

$$||v(\cdot,\tau)||_{L^{2}(M)} \leqslant K ||\partial_{\nu}v||_{L^{2}(\Gamma\times(0,\tau))},$$

for some constant K > 0 independent of q and f.

A combination of (5.24) and (5.25) yields

$$(5.26) C\|v(\cdot,\tau)\|_{L^2(M)} \leqslant \frac{1}{|q(0)|} e^{\tau \|g'\|_{L^2((0,\tau))}^2/|g(0)|^2} \|\partial_{\nu} u\|_{H^1((0,\tau),L^2(\Gamma))}.$$

Denote by  $0 < \lambda_1 \leq \lambda_2 \leq \ldots \leq \lambda_k \to \infty$  the sequence of eigenvalues of the  $-\Delta + q$  with domain  $H^1_0(M) \cap H^2(M)$ . Let  $(\phi_k)$  be a sequence of eigenfunctions, each  $\phi_k$  is associated to  $\lambda_k$ , so that  $(\phi_k)$  form an orthonormal basis of  $L^2(M)$ .

We have

$$v(\cdot,\tau) = \sum_{\ell \ge 1} e^{-\lambda_k \tau} (f,\phi_\ell) \phi_\ell,$$

where  $(\cdot,\cdot)$  is the usual scalar product on  $L^2(M)$ . Hence

$$(f, \phi_{\ell})^2 \leqslant e^{2\lambda_{\ell}\tau} \|v(\cdot, \tau)\|_{L^2(M)}^2, \quad \ell \geqslant 1.$$

Whence

$$\sum_{\ell=1}^{k} (f, \phi_{\ell})^{2} \le k e^{2\lambda_{k} \tau} \|v(\cdot, \tau)\|_{L^{2}(M)}^{2}$$

for any integer  $k \ge 1$ .

This and the fact that  $\left(\sum_{\ell \geqslant 1} \lambda_{\ell}(\cdot, \phi_{\ell})^{2}_{L^{2}(\Omega)}\right)^{1/2}$  is an equivalent norm on  $H^{1}_{0}(M)$  lead

$$||f||_{L^{2}(M)}^{2} = \sum_{\ell=1}^{k} (f, \phi_{\ell})^{2} + \sum_{\ell \geqslant k+1} (f, \phi_{\ell})^{2}$$

$$\leq \sum_{\ell=1}^{k} (f, \phi_{\ell})^{2} + \frac{1}{\lambda_{k+1}} \sum_{\ell \geqslant k+1} \lambda_{\ell} (f, \phi_{\ell})^{2}$$

$$\leq ke^{2\lambda_{k}\tau} ||v(\cdot, \tau)||_{L^{2}(M)}^{2} + \frac{1}{\lambda_{k+1}} ||f||_{H_{0}(M)}^{2}.$$

Until the end of this proof C and c denote generic constants independent of q, f and g.

We get from inequality (5.14)

$$(5.27) C\|f\|_{L^2(M)}^2 \le ke^{ck^{2/n}}\|v(\cdot,\tau)\|_{L^2(M)}^2 + \frac{1}{(k+1)^{2/n}}\|f\|_{H_0^1(M)}^2.$$

Let  $\epsilon \ge 1$  and  $k \ge 1$  be the unique integer so that  $k \le \epsilon^{n/2} < k + 1$ . We obtain in a straightforward manner from (5.27)

(5.28) 
$$C\|f\|_{L^2(M)}^2 \leqslant e^{c\epsilon} \|v(\cdot,\tau)\|_{L^2(M)}^2 + \frac{1}{\epsilon} \|f\|_{H^1(M)}^2.$$

Then (5.26) in (5.28) gives the expected inequality.

Minimizing the right hand side of (5.23) with respect to  $\epsilon$  we obtain the following result in which  $\Phi(\rho) = |\ln \rho|^{-1/2} + \rho$  for  $\rho > 0$  and  $\Phi(0) = 0$ 

**Corollary 5.1.** Let  $\aleph > 0$ ,  $q \in L^{\infty}(M)$  and  $g \in H^1(0,\tau)$  satisfying  $g(0) \neq 0$ . There exists a constant C > 0, depending of  $\aleph$ , q and g, so that for any  $f \in H^1_0(\Omega)$  with  $||f||_{H^1_0(M)} \leq \aleph$  we have

$$C||f||_{L^2(M)} \le \Phi\left(||\partial_{\nu}u||_{H^1((0,\tau),L^2(\Gamma))}\right),$$

where u = u(q, f, g) is the solution of the IBVP (5.20).

## 5.5. Determining the zeroth order coefficient in a heat equation. Consider the IBVP

(5.29) 
$$\begin{cases} \partial_t u - \Delta u + q(x)u = 0 & \text{in } M \times (0, \tau), \\ u = 0 & \text{on } \partial M \times (0, \tau), \\ u(\cdot, 0) = u_0. \end{cases}$$

Again, with reference to classical regularity theorems we have that, for  $q \in L^{\infty}(M)$  and  $u_0 \in H_0^1(M)$ , the IBVP(5.29) has unique solution  $u = u(q, u_0) \in H^{2,1}(Q)$ . Furthermore for any  $\aleph > 0$  there exists a constant C > 0 so that

$$||u(q, u_0)||_{H^{2,1}(M \times (0, \tau))} \le C||u_0||_{H^1_0(M)}$$

for any  $q \in L^{\infty}(M)$  satisfying  $||q||_{L^{\infty}(M)} \leq \aleph$ .

Define

$$\mathcal{H}_0(M) = \{ w \in H_0^1(M); \ \Delta w \in H_0^1(M) \}$$

that we equip with its natural norm

$$||w||_{\mathcal{H}_0(M)} = ||w||_{H_0^1(M)} + ||\Delta w||_{H_0^1(M)}.$$

If  $q \in W^{1,\infty}(M)$  and  $u_0 \in \mathcal{H}_0(M)$  then it is straightforward to check that

$$\partial_t u(q, u_0) = u(q, \Delta u_0 - q u_0).$$

We get by applying (5.30) with  $u_0$  substituted by  $\Delta u_0 - qu_0$ 

$$\|\partial_t u\|_{H^{2,1}(M\times(0,\tau))} \le C\|u_0\|_{\mathcal{H}_0(M)}$$

for any  $q \in W^{1,\infty}(M)$  satisfying  $||q||_{W^{1,\infty}(M)} \leq \aleph$ , where the constant C is independent of q.

Bearing in mind that the trace operator

$$w \in H^{2,1}(Q) \mapsto \partial_{n} w \in L^{2}(\Gamma \times (0,\tau))$$

is bounded we obtain that  $\partial_{\nu}u \in H^1((0,\tau), L^2(\Gamma))$  provided that  $u_0 \in \mathcal{H}_0(M)$  and  $q \in W^{1,\infty}(M)$ . Further we get from (5.30) and (5.31)

$$\|\partial_{\nu}u\|_{H^{1}((0,\tau),L^{2}(\Gamma))} \leq C\|u_{0}\|_{\mathcal{H}_{0}(M)}$$

for any  $q \in W^{1,\infty}(M)$  satisfying  $||q||_{W^{1,\infty}(M)} \leq \aleph$ , where the constant C is independent of q.

That is we proved that the operator

$$\mathcal{N}(q): u_0 \in \mathcal{H}_0(M) \mapsto \partial_{\nu} u \in H^1((0,\tau), L^2(\Gamma))$$

is bounded and

$$\|\mathcal{N}(q)\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathcal{H}_0(M),H^1((0,\tau),L^2(\Gamma)))} \leqslant C$$

for any  $q \in W^{1,\infty}(M)$  satisfying  $||q||_{W^{1,\infty}(M)} \leq N$ , where the constant C is independent of q.

Henceforward for convenience  $\|\mathcal{N}(\tilde{q}) - \mathcal{N}(q)\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathcal{H}_0(M), H^1((0,\tau), L^2(\Gamma)))}$  is simply denoted by  $\|\mathcal{N}(\tilde{q}) - \mathcal{N}(q)\|$ .

**Theorem 5.6.** Let  $\aleph > 0$ . There exists a constant C > 0 so that for any  $q, \tilde{q} \in W^{1,\infty}(M)$  satisfying

$$||q||_{W^{1,\infty}(M)} \leqslant \aleph, \quad ||\tilde{q}||_{W^{1,\infty}(M)} \leqslant \aleph,$$

we have

$$C\|\widetilde{q} - q\|_{L^2(M)} \le \Theta\left(\|\mathcal{N}(\widetilde{q}) - \mathcal{N}(q)\|\right).$$

Here 
$$\Theta(\rho) = |\ln \rho|^{-1/(1+4n)} + \rho \text{ for } \rho > 0 \text{ and } \Theta(0) = 0.$$

*Proof.* Let  $q, \tilde{q} \in W^{1,\infty}(M)$  satisfying

$$||q||_{W^{1,\infty}(M)} \leqslant \aleph, \quad ||\tilde{q}||_{W^{1,\infty}(M)} \leqslant \aleph.$$

As in the preceding subsection we may assume without loss of generality that  $q \ge 0$ . Denote by  $0 < \lambda_1 \le \lambda_2 \le \ldots \le \lambda_k \to \infty$  the sequence of eigenvalues of the operator  $-\Delta + q$  with domain  $H_0^1(M) \cap H^2(M)$ . Let  $(\phi_k)$  a sequence of the corresponding eigenfunctions so that  $(\phi_k)$  form an orthonormal basis of  $L^2(M)$ .

Taking into account that  $u(q, \phi_k) = e^{-\lambda_k t} \phi_k$  we obtain that

$$v = u(\tilde{q}, \phi_k) - u(q, \phi_k)$$

is the solution of the IBVP

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t v - \Delta v + q(x)v = (\tilde{q} - q)\phi_k e^{-\lambda_k t} & \text{in } M \times (0, \tau), \\ uv = 0 & \text{on } \partial M \times (0, \tau), \\ v(\cdot, 0) = 0. \end{cases}$$

Therefore

$$\mathcal{N}(\tilde{q})(\phi_k) - \mathcal{N}(q)(\phi_k) = \partial_{\nu} v$$

from which we deduce

$$\|\partial_{\nu}v\|_{H^1((0,\tau),L^2(\Gamma))} \leq C\lambda_k \|\mathcal{N}(\widetilde{q}) - \mathcal{N}(q)\|.$$

Here and henceforth C and c denote generic constants independent of q and  $\tilde{q}$ . As in the preceding subsection we get from (5.23)

(5.32) 
$$C|(\tilde{q} - q, \phi_k)| \leq \frac{\sqrt{\lambda_k}}{\sqrt{\epsilon}} + e^{\tau \lambda_k^2} e^{c\epsilon} \lambda_k^2 ||\mathcal{N}(\tilde{q}) - \mathcal{N}(q)||$$

for any  $\epsilon \geq 1$ , where we used the inequality  $\|(\tilde{q} - q)\phi_k\|_{H_0^1(M)} \leq C\sqrt{\lambda_k}$ . Inequality (5.32) then gives

$$(5.33) C\sum_{k=1}^{\ell} |(\tilde{q} - q, \phi_k)_{L^2(M)}^2 \leq \frac{\ell \lambda_{\ell}}{\epsilon} + \ell e^{c\lambda_{\ell}^2} e^{c\epsilon} ||\mathcal{N}(\tilde{q}) - \mathcal{N}(q)||^2$$

for any arbitrary integer  $\ell \geqslant 1$ .

Similarly to the proof of Theorem 5.5 inequality (5.33) yields

$$C \|\tilde{q} - q\|_{L^2(M)}^2 \leqslant \frac{s^{1 + 2/n}}{\epsilon} + \frac{1}{s^{2/n}} + e^{cs^{1 + 4/n}} e^{c\epsilon} \|\mathcal{N}(\tilde{q}) - \mathcal{N}(q)\|^2, \quad s \geqslant 1.$$

The proof is then completed in the same manner like that of Theorem 5.5.

- 6. Determining a boundary coefficient in a wave equation
- 6.1. Inverse source problem for the wave equation with boundary damping. In this subsection  $\Omega = (0,1) \times (0,1)$  and

$$\Gamma_0 = ((0,1) \times \{1\}) \cup (\{1\} \times (0,1)),$$
  
$$\Gamma_1 = ((0,1) \times \{0\}) \cup (\{0\} \times (0,1)).$$

Consider the IBVP

(6.1) 
$$\begin{cases} \partial_t^2 u - \Delta u = \lambda(t)w & \text{in } \Omega \times (0, \tau), \\ u = 0 & \text{on } \Gamma_0 \times (0, \tau), \\ \partial_{\nu} u + a \partial_t u = 0 & \text{on } \Gamma_1 \times (0, \tau), \\ u(\cdot, 0) = 0, \quad \partial_t u(\cdot, 0) = 0. \end{cases}$$

Fix  $\frac{1}{2} < \alpha \leq 1$  and let

$$\mathscr{A} = \{b = (b_1, b_2) \in C^{\alpha}([0, 1]) \oplus C^{\alpha}([0, 1]), \ b_1(0) = b_2(0), \ b_j \geqslant 0\}.$$

Let  $V = \{u \in H^1(\Omega); u = 0 \text{ on } \Gamma_0\}$  and define on  $V \oplus L^2(\Omega)$  the operator  $A_a$ ,  $a \in \mathcal{A}$ , by

$$A_a = (w, \Delta v),$$
  
 $D(A_a) = \{(v, w) \in V \oplus V; \ \Delta v \in L^2(\Omega) \text{ and } \partial_{\nu} v = -aw \text{ on } \Gamma_1\}.$ 

We are going to apply Theorem 4.2 with  $H = V \oplus L^2(\Omega)$ ,  $H_1 = D(A_a)$  equipped with its graph norm and  $Y = L^2(\Gamma_1)$ .

Denote by  $H_{-1}$  the dual of  $H_1$  with respect to the pivot space H.

If  $(0, w) \in H_{-1}$  and  $\lambda \in H^1(0, \tau)$  then the IBVP (6.1) has a unique solution u(w) so that  $(u(w), \partial_t u(w)) \in C([0, \tau]; V \oplus L^2(\Omega))$  and  $\partial_{\nu} u(w)|_{\Gamma_1 \times (0, \tau)} \in L^2(\Gamma_1 \times (0, \tau))$ .

Taking into account that  $\{0\} \times V' \subset H_{-1}$ , where V' is the dual space of V, we obtain the following consequence of Theorem 4.2.

**Proposition 6.1.** There exists a constant C > 0 so that for any  $\lambda \in H^1(0,\tau)$  and  $w \in V'$  we have

(6.2) 
$$\|w\|_{V'} \leq C|\lambda(0)|e^{\tau \|\lambda'\|_{L^{2}(0,\tau)}^{2}/|\lambda(0)|^{2}} \|\partial_{\nu}u_{w}\|_{L^{2}(\Gamma_{1}\times(0,\tau))}.$$

6.2. Determining the boundary damping coefficient in a wave equation. Let  $\Omega$  and  $\Gamma_i$ , i = 1, 2 as in the preceding subsection and consider the IBVP

(6.3) 
$$\begin{cases} \partial_t^2 u - \Delta u = 0 & \text{in } \Omega \times (0, \tau), \\ u = 0 & \text{on } \Gamma_0 \times (0, \tau), \\ \partial_{\nu} u + a \partial_t u = 0 & \text{on } \Gamma_1 \times (0, \tau), \\ u(\cdot, 0) = u_0, \quad \partial_t u(\cdot, 0) = u_1. \end{cases}$$

For  $(u_0, u_1) \in H_1$  the IBVP (6.3) admits a unique solution  $u = u(a, (u_0, u_1))$  so that

$$(u_a, \partial_t u_a) \in C([0, \infty), H_1) \cap C^1([0, \infty), H).$$

Fix  $0 < a \le \aleph$  and set

$$\underline{\mathscr{A}} = \{b = (b_1, b_2) \in \mathscr{A} \cap H^1(0, 1) \oplus H^1(0, 1); \ \underline{a} \leqslant b_1, \ b_2, \ \|b\|_{H^1(0, 1) \oplus H^1(0, 1)}^2 \leqslant \aleph\}.$$

Let  $\mathcal{U}_0$  given by

$$\mathcal{U}_0 = \{ v \in V : \Delta v \in L^2(\Omega) \text{ and } \partial_{\nu} v = 0 \text{ on } \Gamma_1 \}$$

and observe that  $\mathcal{U}_0 \times \{0\} \subset H_1$  for any  $a \in \mathcal{A}$ . We endow  $\mathcal{U}_0$  with the norm

$$||u_0||_{\mathcal{U}_0} = \left(||u_0||_V^2 + ||\Delta u_0||_{L^2(\Omega)}^2\right)^{1/2}.$$

Define the initial-to-boundary operator

$$\Lambda(a): u_0 \in \mathcal{U}_0 \mapsto \partial_{\nu} u \in L^2(\Gamma_1 \times (0, \tau)),$$

where  $u = u(a, (u_0, u_1))$  is the solution of the IBVP (6.3). Then

$$\Lambda(a) \in \mathscr{B}(\mathcal{U}_0, L^2(\Gamma_1 \times (0, \tau))).$$

Henceforward for convenience the norm of  $\Lambda(a) - \Lambda(0)$  in  $\mathscr{B}(\mathcal{U}_0, L^2(\Gamma_1 \times (0, \tau)))$  will simply denoted by  $\|\Lambda(a) - \Lambda(0)\|$ .

The following Hölder stability inequality improve the result in [4].

**Theorem 6.1.** Let  $\delta \in (0,1)$ . There exists a constant C only depending of  $\delta$ ,  $\underline{a}$  and  $\aleph$  so that

for each  $a \in \mathcal{A}$ .

*Proof.* We first observe that u(a) is also the unique solution of

$$\begin{cases} \int_{\Omega} u''(t)vdx = \int_{\Omega} \nabla u(t) \cdot \nabla vdx - \int_{\Gamma_1} au'(t)v, \quad v \in V. \\ \\ u(0) = u_0, \quad u'(0) = u_1. \end{cases}$$

Therefore  $u = u(a) - \underline{u}$ , where  $\underline{u} = u(0, (u_0, u_1))$ , is the solution of the following problem

$$(6.5) \quad \left\{ \begin{array}{l} \displaystyle \int_{\Omega} u''(t)v dx = \int_{\Omega} \nabla u(t) \cdot \nabla v dx - \int_{\Gamma_1} au'(t)v - \int_{\Gamma_1} au'(0)(t)v, \quad v \in V. \\ \\ \displaystyle u(0) = 0, \quad u'(0) = 0. \end{array} \right.$$

For  $k, \ell \in \mathbb{Z}$  set

$$\lambda_{k\ell} = \left[ \left( k + \frac{1}{2} \right)^2 + \left( \ell + \frac{1}{2} \right)^2 \right] \pi^2$$

$$\phi_{k\ell}(x, y) = 2 \cos \left( \left( k + \frac{1}{2} \right) \pi x \right) \cos \left( \left( \ell + \frac{1}{2} \right) \pi y \right).$$

and observe that  $\underline{u} = \cos(\sqrt{\lambda_{k\ell}} t)\phi_{k\ell}$  when  $(u_0, u_1) = (\phi_{k\ell}, 0)$ .

Fix k and  $\ell$  and set  $\lambda(t) = \cos(\sqrt{\lambda_{k\ell}} t)$ . Define  $w(a) \in V'$  by

$$w(a)(v) = -\sqrt{\lambda_{k\ell}} \int_{\Gamma_1} a\phi_{k\ell} v.$$

Whence, (6.5) becomes

$$\begin{cases} \int_{\Omega} u''(t)vdx = \int_{\Omega} \nabla u(t) \cdot \nabla vdx - \int_{\Gamma_1} au'(t)v + \lambda(t)w(a)(v), \quad v \in V. \\ u(0) = 0, \quad u'(0) = 0. \end{cases}$$

In other words u is the solution of (6.1) with w = w(a). We find by applying Proposition 6.1

(6.6) 
$$||w(a)||_{V'} \leqslant Ce^{\lambda_{k\ell}\tau^2} ||\partial_{\nu}u||_{L^2(\Gamma_1 \times (0,\tau))}.$$

By noting that  $(a_1 \otimes a_2)\phi_{k\ell} \in V$  even if  $a_1 \otimes a_2 \notin V$  we obtain

(6.7) 
$$a_1(0) \left| \int_{\Gamma_1} (a\phi_{k\ell})^2 d\sigma \right| = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\lambda_{k\ell}}} |w(a)((a_1 \otimes a_2)\phi_{k\ell})|$$

$$\leq \frac{1}{\sqrt{\lambda_{k\ell}}} ||w(a)||_{V'} ||(a_1 \otimes a_2)\phi_{k\ell}||_{V},$$

where we used that  $a_1(0) = a_2(0)$  and

Here and henceforth  $C_0$  is a generic constant independent of a and  $\phi_{k\ell}$ . Now a combination of (6.6), (6.7) and (6.8) yields

$$a_{1}(0) \left( \|a_{1}\phi_{k}\|_{L^{2}(0,1)}^{2} + \|a_{2}\phi_{\ell}\|_{L^{2}(0,1)}^{2} \right)$$

$$\leq C \|a_{1}\|_{H^{1}(0,1)} \|a_{2}\|_{H^{1}(0,1)} e^{\lambda_{k\ell} \frac{\tau^{2}}{2}} \|\partial_{\nu}u\|_{L^{2}(\Gamma_{1}\times(0,\tau))},$$

where  $\phi_k(s) = \sqrt{2}\cos\left((k+1/2)\pi s\right)$ . This,  $\underline{a} \leqslant a_j(0)$  and  $||a_j||_{H^1(0,1)} \leqslant \aleph$  imply

$$||a_1\phi_k||_{L^2(0,1)}^2 + ||a_2\phi_\ell||_{L^2(0,1)}^2 \leqslant C_0 e^{\lambda_{k\ell} \frac{\tau^2}{2}} ||\partial_\nu u||_{L^2(\Gamma_1 \times (0,\tau))}.$$

Hence, where j = 1 or 2,

(6.9) 
$$||a_j \phi_k||_{L^2(0,1)}^2 \leqslant C_0 e^{k^2 \tau^2 \pi^2} ||\partial_\nu u||_{L^2(\Gamma_1 \times (0,\tau))}.$$

Let  $\delta \in (0,1)$  be fixed. Observing that  $\phi_0(s) \sim \pi(s-1)/2$  as  $s \to 1$  we deduce that  $|\phi_0|^{-\delta} \in L^1(0,1)$ . Then we obtain by following the proof of Lemma 3.2

(6.10) 
$$||a_{j}||_{L^{2}(0,1)} \leq ||\phi_{0}|^{-\delta}||_{L^{1}(0,1)}^{1/(2+\delta)} ||a_{j}||_{L^{\infty}(0,1)}^{2/(2+\delta)} ||a_{j}\phi_{0}||_{L^{2}(0,1)}^{\delta/(2+\delta)}$$
$$\leq C ||a_{j}\phi_{0}||_{L^{2}(0,1)}^{\delta/(2+\delta)}.$$

A combination of inequalities (6.10) and (6.9) with k = 0 yields

$$||a_j||_{L^2(0,1)} \le C ||\partial_\nu u||_{L^2(\Gamma_1 \times (0,\tau))}^{\delta/[2(2+\delta)]}$$

This achieves the proof of the expected inequality.

#### References

- [1] V. Adolfsson and L. Escauriaza,  $C^{1,\alpha}$  domains and unique continuation at the boundary, Commun. Pure Appl. Math. 50 (1997), 935-969.
- [2] C. Alves, A.-L. Silvestre, T. Takahashi and M. Tucsnak, Solving inverse source problems using observability. Applications to the Euler-Bernoulli plate equation, SIAM J. Control Optim. 48 (2009), 1632-1659.
- [3] K. Ammari and M. Choulli, Logarithmic stability in determining two coefficients in a dissipative wave equation. Extensions to clamped Euler-Bernoulli beam and heat equations, J. Diff. Equat. 259 (2015), 3344-3365. 2
- [4] K. Ammari and M. Choulli, Logarithmic stability in determining a boundary coefficient in an ibvp for the wave equation, Dynamics of PDE. 14 (2017) 33-45. 2, 5, 25
- [5] Ammari, M. Choulli and F. Triki, Determining the potential in a wave equation without a geometric condition. Extension to the heat equation, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 144 (2016), 4381-4392.

- [6] G. Bao, and Y. Kihyun, On the stability of an inverse problem for the wave equation, Inverse Problems 25 (2009), 045003.
- [7] Bellassoued and M. Yamamoto, Carleman estimates and applications to inverse problems for hyperbolic systems, Springer, Tokyo, 2017.
- [8] A. L. Bukhgeim, M. V. Klibanov, Uniqueness in the large of a class of multidimensional inverse problems, Sov. Math. Dokl. 17 (1981), 244-247.
- [9] M. Choulli and F. Triki, New stability estimates for the inverse medium problem with internal data, SIAM J. Math. Anal. 47 (2015), 1778-1799.
- [10] R. Dautray et J.-L. Lions, Analyse Mathématique et Calcul Numérique, Vol. VIII, Masson, Paris, 1985. 3
- [11] E.B. Davies, Heat kernels and spectral theory, Cambridge University Press, 1989. 6
- [12] D. Gilbarg and N.S. Trudinger, Elliptic partial differential equations of second order, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2001. 6, 8, 17
- [13] I. C. Gohberg and M. G. Krein, Introduction to the theory of linear non self-adjoint operators, AMS, Providence RI, 1969. 17
- [14] H. Hochstadt, Integral equations, Wiley, NY, 1971. 11
- [15] Oleg Y. Imanuvilov and M. Yamamoto, Global uniqueness and stability in determining coefficients of wave equations, Commun. Part. Different. Equat. 26 (2001), 1409-1425.
- [16] Oleg Y. Imanuvilov and M. Yamamoto, An inverse problem and an observability inequality for the Lamé system with stress boundary condition, Applicable Analysis 88 (2009), 711-733.
- [17] V. Isakov, Inverse Problems for Partial Differential Equations, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2006.
- [18] C. Laurent and M. Léautaud, Uniform observability estimates for linear waves ESAIM: COCV. 22 (2016), 1097-1136. 4
- [19] G. Lebeau, Control for hyperbolic equations. Analysis and optimization of systems: state and frequency domain approaches for infinite-dimensional systems, 160-183, Lecture Notes in Control and Inform. Sci., 185, Springer, Berlin, 1993. 4
- [20] G. Lebeau and L. Robbiano, Contrôle exact de l'équation de la chaleur, Commun. Part. Different. Equat. 20 (1995), 335-356.
- [21] S. Liu and R. Triggiani, Recovering damping and potential coefficients for an inverse non-homogeneous second-order hyperbolic problem via a localized Neumann boundary trace, Discrete and Continuous Dynamical Systems 33 (2013), 5217-5252.
- [22] P. Petersen, Riemannian geometry, Springer-Verlag, 2nd edition, 2006. 6
- [23] P. Pucci and J. Serrin, The strong maximum principle revisited, J. Different. Equat. 196 (2004), 1-66; Erratum, J. Different. Equat. 207 (2004), 226-227. 6
- [24] J.-P. Puel, and M. Yamamoto, On a global estimate in a linear inverse hyperbolic problem, Inverse Problems 12 (1996), 995-1002.
- [25] Rakesh and W. W. Symes, Uniqueness for an inverse problem for the wave equation, Commun. Part. Different. Equat. 13 (1988), 87-96.
- [26] N. Rautenberg, A Hardy inequality on Riemannian manifolds and a classification of discrete Dirichlet spectra, arXiv:1401.5010. 6
- [27] K. Ren and F. Triki, A Global stability estimate for the photo-acoustic inverse problem in layered media, arXiv:1707.07260.
- [28] M. Tucsnak and G. Weiss, Observation and control for operator semigroups, Birkhäuser Advanced Texts, Birkhäuser Verlag, Basel, 2009. 2, 5, 11, 12, 13, 17
- [29] M. Yamamoto, Stability, reconstruction formula and regularization for an inverse source hyperbolic problem by a control method, Inverse Problems 11 (1995), 481-496. 2
- [30] E. Zuazua, Controllability and observability of partial differential equations: some results and open problems, Handbook of differential equations: evolutionary equations, Vol. 3. North-Holland, 2007, 527-621.

Kaı̈s Ammarı, UR Analysis and Control of PDEs, UR 13ES64, Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Sciences of Monastir, University of Monastir, 5019 Monastir, Tunisia

 $E ext{-}mail\ address:$  kais.ammari@fsm.rnu.tn

Université de Lorraine, 34 cours Léopold, 54052 Nancy cedex, France  $E\text{-}mail\ address$ : mourad.choulli@univ-lorraine.fr

Laboratoire Jean Kuntzmann, UMR CNRS 5224, Université Grenoble-Alpes, 700 Avenue Centrale, 38401 Saint-Martin-d'Hères, France

 $E ext{-}mail\ address: faouzi.triki@univ-grenoble-alpes.fr}$